
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, November 6, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

1. Call to Order   
2. Roll Call  
3. Invocation and Pledge  
4. Announcements 
5. Approval of the Agenda  
6. Public Input  
7. Consent Agenda  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held September 18, 2023 
• Executive Session held September 18, 2023 
• Regular Meeting held October 2, 2023 
• Special Called Meeting held October 23, 2023 

b. Approve Historic Preservation Commission Reappointments 
c. Approve Planning Commission Reappointment  
d. Approve Acceptance of AEMC Economic Development Donation 

 

8. Employee Recognition 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

9. Extending a Temporary Moratorium on the Issuance of Development and Building Permits 
 

BUSINESS 
 

10. FY 2022-2023 Audit Presentation and Approval 
11. Request for Special Use of City Property  

 

12. ANX-C2100043 and ZA-C2100043: Allen Street Properties, LLC and B & K Turner Family, LLP have 
petitioned to annex into the city limits of Dawsonville tract 2 with 32.937 acres (amended application) tract 
known as a portion of TMP 093 004 001, located at Perimeter Road, with a request to rezone from County 
Zoning of RSR (Residential Sub Rural) and RA (Restricted Agriculture) to City Zoning of R3 (Single Family 
Residential). 
 

13. Ordinance No. 08-2023: An Ordinance To Amend The Infrastructure Dedication Ordinance Of The City Of 
Dawsonville, Georgia, To Provide For An Effective Date, And For Other Purposes (First Reading: 
November 6, 2023; Second Reading and Consideration to Adopt: December 4, 2023) 
 

14. Ordinance No. 09-2023: An Ordinance To Amend The Parking Ordinances Of The City Of Dawsonville, 
Georgia, To Provide For An Effective Date, And For Other Purposes (First Reading: November 6, 2023; 
Second Reading and Consideration to Adopt: December 4, 2023) 

 

15. Request for Annexation Fee Waiver from Dawson County Board of Education 
16. Consideration of an Open Annexation Period 
17. Parking on City Streets 
18. Sale of Surplus Computer Equipment 

 

       STAFF REPORTS 
 

19. Bob Bolz, City Manager 
20. Robin Gazaway, Finance Director 

 

    EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED     

    RESERVED FOR POTENTIAL ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS, IF NEEDED    

    ADJOURNMENT 
  

The next scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, December 4, 2023 
 
Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should contact the Clerk 
at Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023   
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 
   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  
 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held September 18, 2023 
• Executive Session held September 18, 2023 
• Regular Meeting held October 2, 2023 
• Special Called Meeting held October 23, 2023 

b. Approve Historic Preservation Commission Reappointments 
c. Approve Planning Commission Reappointment  
d. Approve Acceptance of AEMC Economic Development Donation 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #       7     
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 

 
• REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 
• REGULAR MEETING HELD OCTOBER 2, 2023 
• SPECIAL CALLED MEETING HELD OCTOBER 23, 2023 

 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, September 18, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 3 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Eason called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.    

2. ROLL CALL:  Present were Councilmember Mark French, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, 
Councilmember John Walden, Councilmember William Illg, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager 
Bob Bolz, Deputy City Clerk Tracy Smith, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utility Director 
Jacob Barr, Stacy Harris representing Planning & Zoning, Downtown Development Director Amanda 
Edmondson and Finance Director Robin Gazaway. 

 

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember French. 
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Mayor Eason reported that the Farmers Market was only open on Saturdays 
now through the end of October; the next food truck will be held on October 6, 2023 and will be the 
last one on Friday; the tree lighting, parade and Jingle Market will be held on November 18, 2023 and 
there will be food trucks there as well.  

 

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by M. French; 
second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  No participation by the public. 
 

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a -g) made by 
J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held August 21, 2023 
• Executive Session held August 21, 2023 

b. Approve First Amendment to Intergovernmental Agreement for Law Enforcement 
c. Approve Intergovernmental Agreement with Dawson County School Board for Extension of 

Disc Golf Course  
d. Approve Agreement with Dawsonville History Museum for Special Purpose Grant 

Administration and Project Management 
e. Approve 2024 Solid Waste Collection Service Agreement with Red Oak Sanitation 
f. Approve Special Event with Alcohol – Bootleggers Bar and Grill, October 27-29, 2023   
g. Approve Ratification of Utility Relocation Costs and Agreement on Shoal Creek Road  

 

8. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION:  The Mayor and Council recognized Amanda Edmondson as the 
August Employee of the Month and service awards were presented to Stan Zaverukha and Steven 
McNeal for five years of service and Jacob Barr for 12 years of service. 

 

BUSINESS 
 

9. ZSP-C2300063:  Atlanta Motorsports Park, LLC has petitioned to amend the site plan and the current 
stipulations; located at 20 Duck Thurmond Road (TMP 070 049 001).  Public Hearing Dates:  Planning 
Commission on Monday, August 14, 2023, and City Council Monday, August 21, 2023.  City Council 
for a decision on September 18, 2023. 
 

Planning and Zoning representative Stacy Harris presented the request.   
 

Councilmember Illg thanked the community and the Planning Commission, as well as staff and the 
applicant, for the work and input involved with making this decision. He stated the goal is to find a 
good comprise resulting in giving and taking from both sides.  
 

Motion made by W. Illg to approve ZSP-C2300063 with stipulations as outlined in the attached Exhibit 
A; second by C. Phillips. Vote carried three in favor (Illg, Phillips, French) with one abstained 
(Walden). 
 

10. ANX-C2100043 and ZA-C2100043: Allen Street Properties, LLC and B & K Turner Family, LLP have 
petitioned to annex into the city limits of Dawsonville tract 2 with 32.937 acres (amended application) 
tract known as a portion of TMP 093 004 001, located at Perimeter Road, with a request to rezone 
from County Zoning of RSR (Residential Sub Rural) and RA (Restricted Agriculture) to City Zoning 
of R3 (Single Family Residential). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on September 13, 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, September 18, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 3 
 

2021 and City Council on October 4, 2021. Tabled indefinitely on April 18, 2022; On August 7, 2023 
item was removed from table and placed on the August 21, 2023 agenda. 
 

Planning and Zoning Admin Stacy Harris presented the request.   
 

Motion to table ANX-C2100043 and ZA-C2100043 to the October 16, 2023 City Council meeting 
made by J. Walden; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

11. CONTINGENT APPROVAL OF ALCOHOL LICENSE FOR GRANDADDY MIMM’S DISTILLING 
CO.:  Motion to approve the alcohol license as presented contingent upon State and Federal approval 
made by C. Phillips; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 
 

12. 2023 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE:  Motion to sign the letter of submission for the draft of the 
2023 Comprehensive Plan to be sent to and reviewed by the Department of Community Affairs made 
by W. Illg; second M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

 

13. REQUEST BID APPROVAL FOR SKATE PARK RELOCATION AND IMPROVEMENT:  Motion to 
approve the bid for the new skate park cement pad from PWG Concrete Construction, LLC in the 
amount of $24,650.00 and the bid for the relocation of existing equipment and installation of new 
equipment from American Ramp Company (Sole Source Provider) in the amount of $84,088.70 both 
to be paid out of SPLOST VII made by M. French; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried three in favor 
(French, Walden, Illg) with one abstained (Phillips). 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

14. DISCUSSION OF PARKING ON CITY STREETS:  Public Works Director Trampas Hansard reported 
he has been receiving a lot of complaints concerning vehicles in subdivisions that are parked on 
sidewalks and streets and blocking sidewalks and streets.  Attorney Kevin Tallant stated that if the 
City chooses to enforce these issues, it must be in the form of an ordinance and it must be very 
specific with the likelihood of turning over the enforcement to a towing and/or booting company.  
Mayor Eason stated the Council has in previous discussions recommended the HOAs develop laws 
to enforce parking issues; he asked Director Hansard if any of the HOAs have done so. 
Councilmember Walden would like Director Hansard to gather information from the HOAs about what 
they are doing to enforce parking.  Councilmember Phillips agreed but would like an ordinance drawn 
up to prohibit parking on sidewalks.  Councilmember French is concerned about public safety vehicles 
being able to navigate the subdivision roads if vehicles are parked illegally.  Discussion occurred 
about the potential process of warnings and towing vehicles. Director Hansard has also been charged 
with gathering information from towing companies about pricing and procedures.  
 

15. PROPOSED 2024 MEETING CALENDAR:  Mayor Eason presented the proposed calendar; the DDA 
will be discussing two of their meetings for May and November at their next scheduled meeting.  The 
calendar will be presented at the next meeting for approval.  

 

    STAFF REPORTS 
 

16. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANAGER:  City Manager Bolz stated that Adam Hazell will be at the October 2, 
2023 meeting to present the Impact Fee recommendation.  Bolz also reported there was only one 
leak adjustment in the amount of $167.00.  The year to date total is $2,264.37 vs. last year’s total this 
time being $15,436.12.   
 

17. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE DIRECTOR:  Finance Director Gazaway presented the financial 
reports representing fund balances and activity through August 31, 2023.   

 

    EXECUTIVE SESSION     

 At 5:34 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session for potential/pending 
litigation and personnel was made by J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in 
favor. 

 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, September 18, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 3 of 3 
 

 At 6:00 p.m. a motion to close executive session was made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.   
 

 Motion to resume regular session was made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.      

    ADJOURNMENT 
 

                  At 6:02 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by J. Walden; second by C. Phillips. Vote                    
carried unanimously in favor. 

 
  Approved this 6th  day of November 2023 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  

 
         
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
 
Attest: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 
  

 





Page 1 of 3 

ZSP C2300063: APPROVED STIPULATIONS 

1. Private driving instruction and exhibition facility shall mean a facility containing
a paved roadway two or more miles in length (the “driving course”) the use of
which is limited to:

a) Providing instruction and training in safe driving skills, adverse weather
driving techniques, or high performance/competition driving

b) The exhibition, maintenance, and operation of vintage or specialty
motor vehicles

c) Similar activities which are recreational or educational in nature
d) A private driving instruction, racing and exhibition facility
e) Accessory clubhouse, rental garages, retail and permitted commercial

or industrial uses serving the primary driving course operations
f) Garage Condos (Approved September 9, 2019)
g) 46 Race Cottages
h) Ability to allow up to 25% of owners to rent Airbnb, VRBO, etc. condos

and race cottages

2. The Applicant/Owner, their successors and assigns by application for and
acceptance of this rezoning shall have conclusively deemed to have agreed
to indemnify the City and its agents and representatives from all liability
including personal injuries and property damage coming out of the extensive,
use, ownership, or operation of the Motorsports Park.

3. When the driving course is not in use, it shall be secured in such a manner to
prevent its unauthorized use.

4. Any Public Address (PA) system shall be below 90 DBA at 50 feet from the
speaker.

5. The driving course shall be enclosed by a fence of a height and construction
sufficient to preclude unauthorized persons from gaining access to the driving
course from the main entrance, hot and cold pit areas.

6. When the car/motorcycle driving course is in use at speeds more than 45 mph,
the operator shall, at his/her expense, onsite, a fully equipped ambulance with
EMT. The EMT’s shall be licensed under the laws of the State of Georgia.

7. Rental garages, Club House, rental buildings, and any other permitted
commercial/industrial building shall be placed strategically to reduce sound
levels. The location of the buildings shall be approved by the City Planning
Director.

8. There shall be fifty (50) foot or greater undisturbed buffers along all streams.

Exhibit "A"



  

Page 2 of 3 
 

9. Where the property runs along Duck Thurmond Road, buildings and existing 
Acoustiblok or similar quality sound fence shall be placed to reduce the sound 
levels and keep as much vegetative cover as possible on the approved site 
plan. 
 

10. There shall be a buffer of between one hundred (100) feet and two hundred 
(200) feet to reduce sound levels as designed by Owner’s sound engineer to 
meet the requirements of Condition 17. The buffer shall be around the 
perimeter of the property and shall be undisturbed except to permit an 
entrance road to the subject property, the construction of sound mitigation 
measures and/or the installation of any utilities. This buffer shall be planted in 
any area that is not visually impervious to a level approved by the City Planning 
Director in order to prevent any soil erosion. 
 

11. Exterior lighting fixtures shall be of the box type and situated so that light only 
goes downward and shall not be more than twenty-five feet high and shall be 
designed so to minimize glare and light spillage to not more than one (1) foot 
candle along the interior buffer line of the subject property. With the exception 
of the kart lighting outlined in condition 14b. 
 

12. There will be no grandstand(s) constructed on the property. 
 

13. All signs at property lines will meet current regulations. Atlanta Motorsports 
Park will be allowed two signs on the property. The existing Atlanta 
Motorsports Park sign is approved and placed at the entrance on Duck 
Thurmond Road. The second sign will be allowed on highway 53 on the berm 
of the retention pond. The second sign will be two sided and follow the current 
sign and size regulations allowed under the CIR designation. 
 

14. Hours of operation are limited to 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. from November 1 to 
March 31. From April 1 to October 31, the hours are limited to 7:00 a.m. (or 
one (1) hour after sunrise, whichever is earlier) to 8:00 p.m. (or one (1) hour 
after sunset, whichever is earlier). No on track activity before 8 a.m.  
 

a) Go-Kart Track extended to 9:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday, 11:00 
p.m. Friday and Saturday, and 8:00 p.m. on Sunday. 

b) The lighting for the go-kart track is LED only, and be a similar 
system/brand design, light spill, pole height, etc. as the MUSCO 
Lighting System Kart Spill Lighting Plan Date Oct 7th, 2022, and Kart 
Lighting Design and Details dated August 16, 2022.   

c) Military and Law Enforcement training and events are allowed after 
hours without noise with a 45-day notice to the City Manager.  
 

15. No type of vehicle other than maintenance vehicles, military or law 
enforcement may run on the track before or after the hours listed above. 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



  

Page 3 of 3 
 

16. Facility to be restricted to site plan as submitted as to the use of the property, 
the type of structures allowed and the general placement of the structure as 
the same may be revised by the Owner’s sound engineer to meet the sound 
requirements of Condition 17. Any minor adjustments, changes or additions 
must be approved by the Planning Commission. Any major adjustments must 
be approved by the City Council. The decision of what is major, or minor is to 
be made at the discretion of the Planning Director and the City Manager with 
Mayor and City Council being copied on the correspondence. 
 

17. Sound monitoring meters shall be installed in four locations around the 
perimeter of the property at the property line on the outside edge of the buffer 
at locations as shown on the approved site plan. These meters monitor in a 
unified fashion, if multiple meters read above the sound limits at the same time 
and same day, it does not result in multiple fines, but one fine per incident. If 
one meter reads above the sound limit and the others do not, it does result in 
a fine.  In addition, the Owner shall install one sound meter 50 feet from the 
outside track pavement edge to monitor track sound levels such that they 
remain below 98 DBA LEQ per vehicle at all times. Only Low Noise Go-Karts 
may be operated on the track and their noise level may not exceed 92 DBA 
LEQ. The Owner, its successors and assigns shall operate the sound 
monitoring meters at all times that the track is operating. As a condition of 
continued operation pursuant to their business license, sound levels at the four 
locations outside the existing sound fence as depicted on the approved site 
plan shall not exceed 63 DBA LEQ (16).  Method of measurement: 
Measurements shall be made with a calibrated sound level meter in good 
condition, meeting the requirements of a Type 1 or Type 2 meter, as specified 
in ANSI Standards, section 1.4 – 1971. For the purpose of this section, a sound 
level, a sound level meter shall contain at least an “A” weighting network, and 
both fast and slow response capability. Failure to comply with this condition 
shall result in a citation for watch offense and upon conviction a fine as set by 
the City Judge of up to $1,000 per violation.  Upon three or more convictions 
for failure to comply with this condition during any calendar year, the Mayor 
and Council may revoke the business license and the ability of Owner, and its 
successors and assigns to operate the facility as a motorsports park complex. 
 

18. All infrastructures shall be designed and installed as required by the 
Development regulations in force at the time the Owner seeks permits for 
development.  
 

19. Applicant may apply for a special event permit on a case by case basis which 
would require City Council approval to conduct racing events with different 
performance standards.  
 

20. Approval of Master Site Plan page C201 created by Civilogistix dated October 
31, 2022, latest revision May 30, 2023.  

Exhibit "A"











































MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, October 2, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 2 
 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Eason called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm. 
 

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember Mark French, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, 
Councilmember John Walden, Councilmember William Illg, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager 
Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly Banister, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utility Director Jacob 
Barr, Planning Director Jameson Kinley, Finance Director Robin Gazaway and Downtown Director 
Amanda Edmondson. 

 

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Phillips.   
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Mayor Eason announced the Farmers Market last day will be Saturday, 
October 21, 2023 from 8:00 am to 1:00 pm and the last Food Truck Friday is this Friday, October 6, 
2023 starting at 5:00 pm.  City Manager Bolz announced the Dawson County High School and the 
Georgia Racing Hall of Fame are working together to hold a Haunted House this Friday and Saturday, 
October 6th and 7th.     

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to amend the agenda by adding item #13 Modify Grandaddy 
Mimms Lease Agreement made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

Motion to approve the agenda as amended made by J. Walden; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.  

 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  No participation by the public.   
 

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a,b) made by 
W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

a. Approve FY 2023 Budget Amendments – Exhibit “A” 
b. Approve 2024 Meeting Calendar – Exhibit “B” 

 

8. PROCLAMATION: CUSTOMER SERVICE WEEK, OCTOBER 2 – OCTOBER 6, 2023:  The Mayor 
read the proclamation and thanked the staff for the excellent customer service they provide.    

    BUSINESS 
 

9. DISCUSS SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION MINUTES:  
Attorney Tallant explained clarification was needed regarding the approved stipulations of ZSP-
C230063.  Council acknowledged their approval was to include stipulation #17 as approved by the 
Planning Commission with the expressed intent of no sound increase.  Council further acknowledged 
stipulation #19 was to include no allowance for unlimited weekends, however, the applicant could 
apply for a special event permit requiring City Council approval to conduct a racing event with different 
performance standards on a case by case basis. 
 

10. REQUEST BY DAWSONVILLE HISTORY MUSEUM TO IMPROVE THE MUSEUM SPACE:  Motion 
to approve the artwork to be painted on the City Hall Complex building across the entire back wall of 
the leased museum space made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Councilmember Illg stated he 
understood the cost of the artwork would be borne by the museum; Mayor Eason confirmed that it 
would. Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

11. CONSIDERATION OF SCHEDULING A SPECIAL CALLED JOINT MEETING WITH DAWSON 
COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS CONCERNING TSPLOST:  Motion to schedule a Joint 
Meeting with the Dawson County Board of Commissioners concerning a special district transportation 
sales tax on December 8, 2023 at 10:00 am at the Dawson County Government Center made by J. 
Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

12. IMPACT FEE PRESENTATION BY ADAM HAZELL:  Adam Hazell from the Georgia Mountain 
Regional Commission presented the assessment from the impact fee study done for the City.  
Attorney Tallant stated the moratorium on development permits is due to expire the beginning of 
November and suggests the Council determine at the next meeting how they’d like to proceed.  He 
can have an ordinance prepared in a reasonable amount of time should they decide to implement 
impact fees.  



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, October 2, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

13. MODIFY GRANDADDY MIMMS LEASE AGREEMENT:  Motion to amend the lease agreement with 
Grandaddy Mimms to not start the collection of rent until thirty (30) days after the approval of the 
plans by the Fire Marshal made by J. Walden; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in 
favor.  

 

    ADJOURNMENT: 
 

At 5:17 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.  

 

 
 Approved this 6th day of November 2023 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  

 
         
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
 
Attest: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 
  



REVENUE Adjustments
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

100-0000-311100 ELECTRIC FRANCHISE FEES                 165,000.00 25,000.00       190,000.00
100-0000-311315 MOTOR VEHICLE TITLE AD VALOREM TAX      66,000.00 38,000.00       104,000.00
100-0000-311730 GAS FRANCHISE FEES                      13,000.00 13,000.00
100-0000-311750 TV CABLE FRANCHISE FEES                 10,000.00 10,000.00
100-0000-311760 TELEPHONE FRANCHISE FEES                20,000.00 8,000.00         28,000.00
100-0000-311790 GARBAGE FRANCHISE FEES                  7,500.00 7,500.00
100-0000-311795 BROADBAND FRANCHISE FEE                 775.00 775.00
100-0000-313100 LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX                  1,670,000.00 173,000.00     1,843,000.00
100-0000-314200 ALCOHOL EXCISE TAX                      115,000.00 115,000.00
100-0000-314500 EXCISE TAX ON ENERGY                    50.00 50.00
100-0000-316100 OCCUPATION TAX                          34,000.00 34,000.00
100-0000-316200 INSURANCE PREMIUM TAX                   223,000.00 133,000.00     356,000.00
100-0000-316300 FINANCIAL INSTITUTION TAX               0.00 0.00
100-0000-321100 ALCOHOL LICENSE                         28,000.00 28,000.00
100-0000-321150 CATERING EVENT PERMIT                   0.00 0.00
100-0000-322210 ZONING & LAND USE FEES                  15,000.00 15,000.00
100-0000-322215 ANNEXATION FEE 500.00 500.00
100-0000-322230 SIGN PERMIT                             1,300.00 1,300.00
100-0000-322240 VARIANCE APPLICATION FEE                2,000.00 2,000.00
100-0000-322250 DEMOLITION PERMIT 300.00 300.00
100-0000-322990 PARADE/PUBLIC ASSEMBLY FEE              300.00 300.00
100-0000-322995 PARADE/PUBLIC ASSEMBLY CLEANUP  0.00 0.00
100-0000-323100 BUILDING PERMIT                         60,000.00 12,000.00       72,000.00
100-0000-323111 CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY FEE            4,200.00 4,200.00
100-0000-323130 PLUMBING PERMIT FEES                    0.00 37,000.00       37,000.00
100-0000-323140 ELECTRIC PERMIT FEES                    0.00 0.00
100-0000-323160 HVAC PERMIT FEES                        0.00 0.00
100-0000-323900 OTHER - GRADING FEES                    3,000.00 3,000.00
100-0000-323901 OTHER - PLAN REVIEW FEES                18,000.00 8,700.00         26,700.00
100-0000-334150 SAFETY GRANT 6,000.00 6,000.00
100-0000-334200 HEALTH GRANT                            0.00 0.00
100-0000-334250 CARES ACT GRANT 0.00 0.00
100-0000-334310 STATE GRANT CAPITAL-LMIG DIRECT         0.00 30,000.00       30,000.00
100-0000-341400 MISC REVENUE                            3,000.00 10,000.00       13,000.00
100-0000-341450 ROOM RENTAL REVENUE 5,000.00 5,000.00
100-0000-343001 ENGINEERING FEE 0.00 0.00
100-0000-346100           ANIMAL CONTROL AND SHELTER FEES         0.00 0.00
100-0000-349300 BAD CHECK FEE                           0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00
100-0000-351170 MUNICIPAL COURT FEES 3,000.00 3,000.00
100-0000-361000 INTEREST INCOME                         1,300.00 100,000.00     101,300.00
100-0000-381000 RENTAL INCOME - DMC                     60,000.00 5,800.00                65,800.00
100-1400-341910 ELECTION QUALIFYING FEE                 0.00 0.00
100-1500-311340 INTANGIBLES TAX                         40,000.00 40,000.00
100-1500-311601 REAL ESTATE TRANSFER TAX                15,000.00 15,000.00
100-0000-740000 TRANSFER IN FROM RESERVES -17,374.00 -17,374.00

GENERAL FUND Revenue Totals:  2,572,851.00 580,500.00     3,153,351.00

EXPENDITURES
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

 DEPARTMENT: COUNCIL   
100-1100-511000 COUNCIL: SALARIES                                35,000.00 35,000.00
100-1100-512100 COUNCIL: GROUP INSURANCE                         56,600.00 4,883.00         61,483.00
100-1100-512200 COUNCIL: TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 3,000.00 3,000.00
100-1100-523200 COUNCIL: COMMUNICATIONS - CELL PHONE   2,900.00 2,900.00
100-1100-523500 COUNCIL: TRAVEL                                  1,000.00 1,000.00
100-1100-523700 COUNCIL: EDUCATION & TRAINING                    3,000.00 3,000.00
100-1100-531100 COUNCIL: SUPPLIES                    500.00 500.00
 DEPARTMENT: MAYOR      102,000.00
100-1300-511000 MAYOR: SALARIES                                17,000.00 17,000.00
100-1300-512100 MAYOR: GROUP INSURANCE                         60.00 60.00
100-1300-512200 MAYOR: TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 1,400.00 1,400.00
100-1300-523200 MAYOR: COMMUNICATIONS - CELL PHONE 1,000.00 1,000.00
100-1300-523500 MAYOR: TRAVEL                                  1,200.00 1,200.00
100-1300-523700 MAYOR: EDUCATION & TRAINING                    2,000.00 2,000.00
100-1300-531100 MAYOR: SUPPLIES 200.00 200.00
 DEPARTMENT: ELECTIONS    22,860.00
100-1400-521203 ELECTIONS: PROFESSIONAL OTHER                 15,000.00 15,000.00
100-1400-523300 ELECTIONS: ADVERTISING                             0.00 0.00
100-1400-523400 ELECTIONS: PRINTING AND BINDING                    0.00 0.00

BUDGET FY 2022-23
GENERAL FUND - 100                            

GENERAL FUND - 100                            

Page 1
 Exhibit "A"



100-1400-531100 ELECTIONS: SUPPLIES                                0.00 0.00
 DEPARTMENT: ADMINISTRATION    15,000.00
100-1500-511000 ADMINISTRATION: SALARIES                                383,016.00 383,016.00
100-1500-512100 ADMINISTRATION: GROUP INSURANCE           154,000.00 154,000.00
100-1500-512200 ADMINISTRATION: TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA     32,000.00 32,000.00
100-1500-512400 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS                25,000.00 25,000.00
100-1500-512700 WORKERS COMP                            4,300.00 4,300.00
100-1500-521200 PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      70,000.00 70,000.00
100-1500-521201 PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTING                 19,000.00 19,000.00
100-1500-521203 PROFESSIONAL OTHER                      57,000.00 57,000.00
100-1500-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES (IT)                 19,245.00 19,245.00
100-1500-521315 TECHNICAL SERVICES-PAYROLL ACH          3,600.00 3,600.00
100-1500-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   4,078.00 4,078.00
100-1500-522320 RENTAL EQUIPMENT       3,010.00 3,010.00
100-1500-523000 OTHER PURCHASED SERVICES                32,000.00 32,000.00
100-1500-523100 INSURANCE OTHER THAN EMPL               15,000.00 15,000.00
100-1500-523200 COMMUNICATIONS                          13,000.00 13,000.00
100-1500-523300 ADVERTISING                             2,500.00 2,500.00
100-1500-523400 PRINTING AND BINDING                    1,116.00 1,116.00
100-1500-523500 TRAVEL                                  4,000.00 4,000.00
100-1500-523600 DUES & FEES                             12,112.00 12,112.00
100-1500-523700 EDUCATION & TRAINING                    4,435.00 4,435.00
100-1500-523910 UNIFORMS 1,400.00 1,400.00
100-1500-531100 SUPPLIES                                45,000.00 45,000.00
100-1500-531270 ENERGY GASOLINE/DIESEL                  1,550.00 1,550.00
100-1500-531300 FOOD                                    2,500.00 2,500.00
100-1500-531600 SMALL EQUIPMENT 5,000.00 338,000.00     343,000.00
100-1500-541000 CAPITAL OUTLAY 35,000.00 115,000.00     150,000.00
100-1500-581000 CONTINGENCY 0.00 0.00
100-1500-999999 PMTS TO OTHER - DAWSON 150,000.00 150,000.00
 DEPARTMENT: CITY HALL BLDG            1,098,862.00
100-1565-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES                      5,387.00 5,387.00
100-1565-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   43,000.00 43,000.00
100-1565-522201 R & M - GRHOF 5,000.00 5,000.00
100-1565-522202 R & M - DISTILLERY 5,000.00 5,000.00
100-1565-531100 SUPPLIES                                25,000.00 25,000.00
100-1565-531220 ENERGY NATURAL GAS                      9,000.00 9,000.00
100-1565-531230 ENERGY ELECTRICITY                      51,307.00 51,307.00
100-1565-540000 CAPITAL OUTLAY 20,000.00 20,000.00
 DEPARTMENT: ANIMAL CONTROL              163,694.00
100-3900-523600 DUES & FEES                             500.00 (400.00)           100.00
100-3900-531100 SUPPLIES                                1,036.00 (1,036.00)        0.00
 DEPARTMENT: ROADS                       1,536.00
100-4200-511000 SALARIES                                259,177.00 47,000.00       306,177.00
100-4200-512100 GROUP INSURANCE                         75,000.00 34,500.00       109,500.00
100-4200-512200 TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 21,000.00 21,000.00
100-4200-512400 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS                5,000.00 13,000.00       18,000.00
100-4200-512700 WORKERS COMP                            27,000.00 27,000.00
100-4200-521200 PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      6,000.00 6,000.00
100-4200-521202 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING                4,500.00 4,500.00
100-4200-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES                      7,000.00 1,200.00         8,200.00
100-4200-522110           GARBAGE SERVICES                        2,000.00 2,000.00
100-4200-522140 STREET SWEEPING/GROUNDSUP               14,300.00 14,300.00
100-4200-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   50,000.00 50,000.00
100-4200-523200 COMMUNICATIONS                          5,240.00 5,240.00
100-4200-523400 PRINTING AND BINDING                    100.00 100.00
100-4200-523500 TRAVEL                                  2,000.00 2,000.00
100-4200-523600 DUES & FEES                             1,513.00 1,513.00
100-4200-523700 EDUCATION & TRAINING                    1,500.00 1,500.00
100-4200-523910 UNIFORM SERVICE                         3,000.00 3,000.00
100-4200-531100 SUPPLIES                                22,000.00 22,000.00
100-4200-531230 ENERGY ELECTRICITY                      47,033.00 47,033.00
100-4200-531240 ENERGY BOTTLED GAS                      1,000.00 1,000.00
100-4200-531270 ENERGY GASOLINE/DIESEL                  10,000.00 10,000.00
100-4200-531300 FOOD                                    0.00 0.00
100-4200-541400 INFRASTRUCTURE-GDOT LMIG                1,000.00 1,000.00
 DEPARTMENT: PARKS                       565,363.00
100-6200-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   20,000.00 66,290.00       86,290.00
100-6200-531100 SUPPLIES                                25,000.00 20,600.00       45,600.00
100-6200-531230 ENERGY ELECTRICITY                      20,528.00 2,363.00         22,891.00
100-6200-542100 CAPITAL OUTLAY - PARKS 0.00 13,000.00       13,000.00
 DEPARTMENT: PLANNING & ZONING           65,528.00
100-7400-511000 SALARIES                                211,300.00 6,800.00         218,100.00
100-7400-512100 GROUP INSURANCE                         60,000.00 16,000.00       76,000.00
100-7400-512200 TAXES: SUTA, FICA, FUTA                 16,700.00 16,700.00

Page 2
 Exhibit "A"



100-7400-512400 RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS                7,508.00 8,300.00         15,808.00
100-7400-512700           WORKERS COMP                            800.00 800.00
100-7400-521200 PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      43,000.00 43,000.00
100-7400-521202 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING                11,000.00 11,000.00
100-7400-521203 PROFESSIONAL OTHER                      18,000.00 18,000.00
100-7400-521300 TECHNICAL SERVICES                      11,000.00 11,000.00
100-7400-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   2,000.00 2,000.00
100-7400-522320 RENTAL EQUIPMENT 4,400.00 4,400.00
100-7400-523200 COMMUNICATIONS                          5,000.00 5,000.00
100-7400-523300 ADVERTISING                             1,400.00 1,400.00
100-7400-523400 PRINTING AND BINDING                    500.00 500.00
100-7400-523500 TRAVEL                                  4,000.00 4,000.00
100-7400-523600 DUES & FEES                             2,500.00 2,500.00
100-7400-523700 EDUCATION & TRAINING                    4,000.00 4,000.00
100-7400-523800 LICENSES 400.00 400.00
100-7400-523910 UNIFORMS 1,000.00 1,000.00
100-7400-531100 SUPPLIES                                13,500.00 13,500.00
100-7400-321270 ENERGY-GASOLINE / DIESEL 3,000.00 3,000.00
100-7400-541400 CAPITAL - PROPERTY (VEHICLE) 0.00 0.00
 DEPARTMENT: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT               421,008.00
100-7540-572000 PMTS TO OTHER AGENCY (Chamber of Commerce           12,000.00 12000
100-7550-531000 PMTS TO OTHER AGENCY (DDA)             105,000.00 (105,000.00)    0

GENERAL FUND Expenditure Totals:  2,572,851.00
580,500.00     

GENERAL FUND Revenue Totals:  2,572,851.00
GENERAL FUND Expenditure Totals:  2,572,851.00

REVENUE ARPA -230
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

230-0000-332100 AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN 3,700,000.00 (2,799,000.00) 
230-0000-361000 INTEREST 400.00

ARPA FUND 230 Revenue Totals 3,700,400.00

EXPENDITURES                                                              ARPA - 230
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

230-4200-541000 PUBLIC WORKS/UTILITIES 3,700,400.00 (2,799,000.00) 

ARPA FUND 230 Expenditure Totals 3,700,400.00

ARPA FUND 230 Revenue Totals 3,700,400.00
ARPA FUND 230 Expenditure Totals 3,700,400.00

REVENUE                                                            HOTEL/MOTEL FUND - 275
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

275-0000-314100 HOTEL/MOTEL TAX                         6,000.00 1,325.00         
HOTEL/MOTEL FUND 275 Revenue Totals 6,000.00

EXPENDITURES                                                           HOTEL/MOTEL FUND - 275
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

275-7540-572000 PMTS TO OTHER AGENCY (Chamber of Commerce 6,000.00 1,325.00         
HOTEL/MOTEL FUND 275 Expenditure Totals 6,000.00

HOTEL/MOTEL FUND 275 Revenue Totals 6,000.00
HOTEL/MOTEL FUND 275 Expenditure Totals 6,000.00

Page 3
 Exhibit "A"



REVENUE
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

285-7550-000000 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  (DDA)        4,400.00 2,551.00         6,951.00
285-7500-740000 TRANSFER IN FROM RESERVES 25,000.00 25000

DDA FUND 285 Revenue Totals 29,400.00 31,951.00

EXPENDITURES
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

285-7500-521200           PROFESSIONAL LEGAL                      2,000.00 2,000.00
285-7500-521201           PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTING                 1,200.00 1,200.00
285-7500-521203           PROFESSIONAL OTHER                      0.00 0.00
285-7500-523300           ADVERTISING                             0.00 2,551.00         2,551.00
285-7500-523700           EDUCATION & TRAINING                    1,200.00 1,200.00
285-7500-531000           FIREWORKS PURCHASE                      0.00 0.00
285-7500-531100           SUPPLIES                                0.00 0.00
285-7500-540000           GRANT DISBURSEMENTS                     25,000.00 25,000.00
285-7550-531000 OTHER EXPENDITURES FROM RESERVES 0.00 0.00 31,951.00

DDA FUND 285 Expenditure Totals 29,400.00

DDA FUND 285 Revenue Totals 29,400.00
DDA FUND 285 Expenditure Totals 29,400.00

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUND (DDA) - 285

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUND (DDA) - 285

Page 4
 Exhibit "A"



REVENUE
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

320-0000-313200 SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX 0.00
320-0000-361000 INTEREST INCOME                         100.00
320-0000-361000 TRANSFER IN FROM RESERVES 42,900.00

 SPLOST VI FUND 320 Revenue Totals 43,000.00

EXPENDITURES
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

320-1000-541300           CAPITAL OUTLAY - CITY HALL ACQUISITION  0.00
320-4200-541400           CAPITAL OUTLAY - ROADS AND SIDEWALKS    0.00
320-4200-542000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMNT-R 34,000.00
320-4300-541400           CAPITAL OUTLAY - SEWER PROJECTS         0.00
320-4300-542000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMNT-S 0.00
320-4400-541400           CAPITAL OUTLAY - WATER PROJECTS         0.00
320-4400-542000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMNT-W 0.00
320-6000-541000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - FARMERS MARKET         9,000.00
320-6200-541200           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PARKS AND RECREATION   0.00

 SPLOST VI FUND 320 Expenditure Totals 43,000.00

 SPLOST VI FUND 320 Revenue Totals 43,000.00
 SPLOST VI FUND 320 Expenditure Totals 43,000.00

REVENUE
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

327-0000-340000 SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX 1,599,900.00 (695,000.00)    
327-0000-361000 INTEREST INCOME                         100.00
327-0000-361000 TRANSFER IN FROM RESERVES 0.00

 SPLOST VII FUND 327 Revenue Totals 1,600,000.00

EXPENDITURES
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

327-1000-541300           CAPITAL OUTLAY - CITY HALL ACQUISITION  0.00
327-4200-541400           CAPITAL OUTLAY - ROADS AND SIDEWALKS    0.00
327-4200-542000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMNT-R 0.00
327-4300-541400           CAPITAL OUTLAY - SEWER PROJECTS 733,000.00 (695,000.00)    
327-4300-542000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMNT-S 0.00
327-4400-541400           CAPITAL OUTLAY - WATER PROJECTS         733,000.00
327-4400-542000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PUBLIC WORKS EQUIPMNT-W 34,000.00
327-6000-541000           CAPITAL OUTLAY - FARMERS MARKET         0.00
327-6200-541200           CAPITAL OUTLAY - PARKS AND RECREATION   100,000.00

 SPLOST VII FUND 327 Expenditure Totals 1,600,000.00

 SPLOST VII FUND 327 Revenue Totals 1,600,000.00
 SPLOST VII FUND 327 Expenditure Totals 1,600,000.00

SPLOST VII FUND - 327                           

SPLOST VI FUND - 320

SPLOST VI FUND - 320

SPLOST VII FUND - 327                           

Page 5
 Exhibit "A"



REVENUE
Account # Account Description 2020-21 Recmnd

790-0000-321210 REAL ESTATE FEES                        125.00
790-0000-349100 CEMETERY LOT SALES                      9,000.00
790-0000-361000 INTEREST INCOME                         100.00
790-0000-611000 TRANSFER IN (RESERVES) 109,775.00 (84,500.00)      

CEMETERY FUND 790 Revenue Totals 119,000.00

EXPENDITURES                                                                      CEMETERY FUND - 790
Account # Account Description 2022-23 Recmnd

790-4950-522200 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE                   12,000.00
790-4950-523600 DUES & FEES                             200.00
790-4950-531100 SUPPLIES                                6,800.00
790-4950-542500 CAPITAL OUTLAY - OTHER             100,000.00 (84,500.00)      

CEMETERY FUND 790 Expenditure Totals 119,000.00

CEMETERY FUND 790 Revenue Totals 119,000.00
CEMETERY FUND 790 Expenditure Totals 119,000.00

                                                                     CEMETERY FUND - 790

Page 6
 Exhibit "A"



PUBLIC NOTICE 
2024 Meetings of the City of Dawsonville 

The City of Dawsonville City Council, DDA, Planning Commission and 
HPC shall conduct regular meetings on the dates and time below: 

2024 City Council Regular Meetings at 5:00 pm 
JAN 11     FEB 5     MAR 4     MAY 6     JUN 3 

 AUG 5     OCT 7     NOV 4     DEC 2 

2024 City Council Regular Meetings and Work Sessions at 5:00 pm 
FEB 19   MAR 18   APR 15    MAY 20  JUN 17 

JUL 15   AUG 19   SEP 16    OCT 21  NOV 18  DEC 16 

2024 Planning Commission Meetings at 5:30 pm 
JAN 8   FEB 12   MAR 11   APR 8   MAY 13   JUN 10 
JUL 8   AUG 12   SEP 9    OCT 14    NOV 12   DEC 9 

2024 Historic Preservation Commission Meetings at 5:30 pm 
FEB 26   APR 22    JUN 24    AUG 26    OCT 28     DEC 3 

2024 Downtown Development Authority Meetings at 5:30 pm 

JAN 22   MAR 25    MAY 9    JUL 22    SEP 23     NOV 7 

All meetings according to the dates set forth above will be upstairs in the G.L. 
“Pete” Gilleland Council Chambers at City Hall located at 415 HWY 53 E, 

Dawsonville, GA. The public is invited to attend all of these meetings. 

Exhibit "B"



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING  
G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 

Monday, October 23, 2023 
5:15 P.M. 

   

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Pro-Tem Walden called the meeting to order at 5:15 pm. 
 

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember William Illg, Councilmember Mark French, 
Councilmember Caleb Phillips, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly 
Banister, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utility Director Jacob Barr, Planning Director 
Jameson Kinley, Finance Director Robin Gazaway and Director of Downtown Development Amanda 
Edmondson.   

 

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Illg.   
 

4. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by M. French; 
second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

5. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

6. RESOLUTION NO. R2023-06: ADOPTION OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 2023 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  Motion to approve Resolution R2023-06 to adopt the Comprehensive 
Plan Update made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  (Exhibit “A”) 
 

7. 2023-2024 HEALTH INSURANCE:  Motion to approve Aetna Option #2 for the 2023-2024 Health 
Insurance benefits made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (Exhibit 
“B”) 
 

8. APPROVE CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A HISTORIC RESOURCE SURVEY:  Motion to award 
the Historic Resource Survey RFP to WLA Studio in the amount of $9,989 to be paid out of the FY 
2024 budget made by C. Phillips; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

 

    ADJOURNMENT: 
 

At 5:25 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by W. Illg second by M. French.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.  

  
 Approved this 6th day of November 2023 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  

 
         
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
Attest: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
  



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



 

2023 City of Dawsonville 
Comprehensive Plan Update   

  
 

   
 

              Prepared by:                                  
 
 
 
 
 

                       
2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 2 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
I. INTRODUCTION          3 
 
A. Purpose           4 
B. Scope           5 
C. Citizen Participation         5 
D. Required Components         5 
E. Broadband Assessment         8 

 
II. COMMUNITY VISION         10 
 
A. Vision Statement          10 
B. Goals and Objectives         12 
C. Community Needs and Opportunities       13 
D. Land Use Assessment         35 
E. Areas That Require Attention        37 
F. Recommended Character Areas        41 
G. Quality Community Objectives        52 
 
III. IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM        54 
 
A. Policies and Long-Term Objectives       54 
B. Long-Term Activities and Ongoing Programs      54 
C. Report of Accomplishments        55 
D. Short-Term Work Program         58 
 
IV. APPENDICES          64 
 
A. Georgia Mountains Regional Commission Area Labor Profile         64 
B. Dawson County/Dawsonville Area Labor Profile      71 
C. Dawsonville Demographics        77  
D. Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Public Comment Survey Sample   83 
E. Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Public Comment Survey Response Summary 87 
F. Comprehensive Plan Meeting Records       113 
G: Capital Improvement Element        121 
  

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 3 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 
Dawsonville, Georgia is the civic seat and social center of Dawson County. The City of 
Dawsonville was incorporated in 1859 and became the center for county government 
operations after the construction of a courthouse and jail in 1860. Over time the local 
economy has flourished and struggled with a mostly agriculture base, but D  
prevailing identity stems from its origins as a haven for the production and trade of moonshine. 
The popularity of this era remains with a cultural festival named after the illegal alcohol, while, 
more importantly, the production of fast cars used to transport moonshine led to the 
comm  with auto racing that survives today within a local museum. 
 

 
 
Together with Dawson County, Dawsonville also serves as the southern gateway to the 
Appalachian Mountains and the northern tip of metropolitan Atlanta. The southern terminus of 
the Appalachian Trail along with Amicalola Falls State Park and Lodge lie in Dawson 
County, which, combined with the abundant reserved forest within the area, has raised the 
profile of outdoor recreational activities for locals and tourists alike. However, retail commerce 
and industry has grown in the region, as well, as suburban development and population 
growth has crept to and beyond the Dawson County line. Georgia Highway 400 and an outlet 
mall have raised the regional awareness of Dawsonville, and modern technology has helped 
permit the once small, rural community to blossom with potential for true urbanized amenities. 
 
Today the city proper remains considerably small but growing rapidly. The 2020 Census 
recorded 3,720 residents. This is up 42% from 2,536 residents within the city limits according to 
the 2010 Census. Dawson County is also growing rapidly, tripling in population between 1980 
and 2000. The 2020 Census for the county recorded 26,798 and is up 17% from the 2016 
population estimate of 23,095. Meanwhile, neighboring City of Cumming and Forsyth County, 
located immediately below Dawson County, has increased in residential size considerably as 
well over the past twenty years. These trends plus changes in city limits and plans for economic 
development mean that Dawsonville will continue to receive significant pressures to grow and 
evolve in the coming decades. 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 4 
 

A. Purpose 
 
The purpose of the 2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan is to lay out a road map for the 

stakeholders in making key decisions about the future of the community. The Comprehensive Plan 
for the future, key issues, and opportunities it chooses to address 

during the planning period, and its implementation program for achieving this vision and addressing 
the identified issues and opportunities. The Comprehensive Plan is intended to generate local pride 
and enthusiasm about the future of the community, thereby making citizens wish to ensure that the 
plan is implemented. 

 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 5 
 

B. Scope 
 
This document addresses the local planning requirements and community development of 
Dawsonville, Georgia. Some consideration has been given to those areas and political entities 
adjacent to the city that influence local conditions, but all the cited issues, objectives and 
opportunities discussed herein are solely focused on the City of Dawsonville. 
 
C. Citizen Participation 
 
As a part of the planning process each local government must provide and implement opportunities 
to encourage public participation during the preparation of the comprehensive plan. The purpose of 
this is to ensure that citizens and other stakeholders are aware of the planning process, are provided 
opportunities to comment on the local plan elements and have adequate access to the process of 

 
 
 
At a minimum, the public participation program must provide for: adequate notice to keep the public 
informed of the emerging plan; opportunities for the public to provide written comments on the plan; 
hold the required public hearings; and provide notice to property owners through advertisements in 
the newspaper (legal organ) of the planning effort soliciting participation and comments. In addition, 
Dawsonville must provide opportunities for public participation through other means and methods 
to help articulate a community vision and develop associated goals and implementation program. 
To fulfill this component, stakeholders met monthly from January through August 2023 and 
held two public meetings in July.  
 
D. Required Components 
 

This comprehensive plan serves to meet 
the requirements and intent of the Georgia 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 6 
 

amended in 2018, and the Georgia Planning Act of 1989. It is essential that the plan be prepared 
in compliance with these rules and guidelines for the City of Dawsonville to maintain its Qualified 
Local Government (QLG) status. Further, State law requires that the local government update its 
comprehensive plan every five years.  
 

management, 
and implementation of local comprehensive plans at the local, regional, and state government level. 
They reflect an important state interest: healthy and economically vibrant cities and counties are 

 
(1) Community Goals: The purpose of the Community Goals element is to lay out a road map for 

and stakeholders in making key decisions about the future of the community. The Community Goals 

are intended to generate local pride and enthusiasm about the future of the community, thereby 
leading citizens, and leadership to act to ensure that the plan is implemented.  
 
The Community Goals must include at least one or a combination of any of the four components 
listed below:  
 

(a) General Vision Statement: Include a general statement that paints a picture of what 
the community desires to become, providing a complete description of the development patterns to 
be encouraged within the jurisdiction.  
 

(b) List of Community Goals: Include a listing of the goals the community seeks to achieve. 
Review the suggested community goals in the Supplemental Planning Recommendations for 
suggestions.  
 

(c) Community Policies: Include any policies the local government selects to provide 
ongoing guidance and direction to local government officials for making decisions consistent with 
achieving the Community Goals.  
 

(d) Character Areas and Defining Narrative: This option lays out more specific goals for 
the future of the community-by-community sub-areas, districts, or neighborhoods, and may be 
prepared using the guidance provided for the Land Use Element. 
 
(2) Needs and Opportunities: This is the locally agreed upon list of Needs and Opportunities the 
community intends to address. Each of the needs or opportunities that the community identifies as 
a high priority must be followed-up with corresponding implementation measures in the Community 
Work Program. The list must be developed by involving community stakeholders in conducting a 
SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, threats) or similar analysis of the community.  
 
(3) Community Work Program: This element of the comprehensive plan lays out the specific 
activities the community plans to undertake during the next five years to address the priority Needs 
and Opportunities, identified Target Areas (if applicable), or to achieve portions of the Community 
Goals. This includes any activities, initiatives, programs, ordinances, administrative systems (such 
as site plan review, design review, etc.) to be put in place to implement the plan. The Community 
Work Program must include the following information for each listed activity:  
 

 Brief description of the activity. 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 7 
 

 Legal authorization for the activity, if applicable. 
 Period for initiating and completing the activity. 
 Responsible party for implementing the activity. 
 Estimated cost (if any) of implementing the activity; and 
 Funding source(s), if applicable. 

 
Lastly, local comprehensive plans in Georgia are now required to include an assessment of 
compliance and consideration for the appropriate regional water plans for each community. 
 
Consideration of the Regional Water Plan and the Environmental Planning Criteria. During the 
process of preparing its comprehensive plan, each community must review the Regional Water 

is need to adapt local implementation practices or development regulations to address protection 
of these important natural resources. The community must certify that it has considered both the 
Regional Water Plan and the Rules for Environmental Planning Criteria when it transmits the plan 
to the Regional Commission for review. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 8 
 

Broadband Internet Access 

As communities move forward the importance of access to reliable and high-speed, high-
capacity internet connections cannot be overestimated. Unserved and underserved areas of 
Georgia will not remain economically competitive without sufficient internet infrastructure, as this 
technology becomes the default utility for all manners of communication. 
 
To address this issue in 2018 the Georgia General Assembly amended the provisions of local 
planning in Georgia by passing the "Achieving Connectivity Everywhere (ACE) Act," intended to 
facilitate the enhancement and extension of high-speed internet access in communities that lack 
such infrastructure and the vast resources it provides. In time the State will support programs 
and initiatives aimed at delivering the community improvement and empowerment potential that 
reliable, high-speed internet access can provide to even the most difficult-to-serve citizens, 
schools, and businesses. As the first step in planning for this critical, potentially catalytic 
infrastructure, the "ACE" Act requires all local governments to incorporate the "promotion of the 
deployment of broadband internet services" into their local plan.  
 

 
 

23 access to higher grade broadband technology, stakeholders 
and those that completed public input surveys discussed the general condition and availability of 
existing internet service providers based on the general distribution of high-capacity lines 
throughout the area. The majority provider within the area (based on geographic area) is 
Windstream, for which service ratings were considered below average. Windstream, Comcast, 
ETC Communications, and Kinetic Fiber provide commercial service in the GA 400 corridor, 
along arterial roads leading westward into the county and to Dawsonville, and along various 
roads throughout the unincorporated County. last mile
connectivity along more remote rural roads, particularly regarding higher speed and higher 
capacity lines.  
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 9 
 

The North Georgia Network (NGN) is an incorporated cooperative providing a regional fiber 
optic system with over 1,600 linear miles of infrastructure. The NGN was conceived as part of 
visions for a more prosperous rural Georgia, with the knowledge that a fiber optic network that is 
fast, reliable, and affordable is vital to modern economic development. The NGN provides 
infrastructure into the city (map below) and along the Hwy 400 corridor that loops through the 
northeast Georgia mountains area with 100 gigabit core line and connects to almost all the 
schools and colleges in the region as well as reaching many government structures and 
prominent business parks.  

 
 
Based on survey results, public comments, and stakeholder input, there remains a strong need 
for improved internet access in Dawsonville and Dawson County. The city, likewise, supports 
improvement programs that will expand local network connectivity and enhance network 
capacity with an eye toward significantly greater growth (and therefore increased demand for 
internet services) within the areas between the city, Forsyth County and Lake Lanier.  
 
Priorities for Future Network Enhancements 

  last mile connections.   
  Higher-capacity trunk lines westward from NGN                
  Expansion of NGN north of Dawsonville                 

 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 10 
 

II. COMMUNITY VISION  
 
A. Vision Statement  
 
The Minimum Standards and Requirements for Local Comprehensive Planning defines a 
community vision as something the community desires to 
become, providing a complete description of the development patterns to be encouraged within the 

 It is required as an element of the comprehensive plan so that communities can truly 
establish a pure and simple ideal for themselves in a format that is easily expressed and 
understood. 

 
Visioning provides 
communities with an 
opportunity to pause 

attempt to clearly 
define their ideal 
future. Developing a 
vision means that the 
community has at 
least tried to identify 
current values, 
describe how they 
are to be realized in 
the future and use 
that image as a 
foundation for short 
and long-term 
planning. As a 
process, this also 
requires the 
community to 
develop a consensus 
on what conditions to 
change or to 
preserve.  

 
The vision presented as part of the Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan was originally developed as 
part of the plan update process of 2023. The process featured several meetings for the 
community, input from organized stakeholder groups, as well as comments suggested from more 
than 442 surveys which surpassed the 115 received during the 2018 update.  
 
Discussions with various stakeholders revealed several common themes that contributed to the 
proposed vision statement for Dawsonville. Participants expressed near unanimous support for 
recognizing the value of the c s historic urban core for both cultural and economic reasons. 
There was equal support for characterizing the city as a sustainable and prosperous hometown 
where residents could live, work and play. These two elements were considered the most 
valuable to Dawsonvi s identity and all other aspects would build from their principles. 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 11 
 

is a unique destination that will be a safe, attractive, welcoming place to live, work 
and play; Dawsonville will strive to enhance its downtown and other areas throughout the city 
with opportunities to become a viable destination for business and cultural activities, fostering a 
family friendly, walkable environment that is characterized by a variety of historic and local 
destinations.   
 
 
Broken down, the General Vision for Dawsonville expresses the following values: 
 
 

e is a unique destination that will 
be a safe, attractive, and welcoming place 
to live, work and play; 
 
 
 
 
 

strive to enhance its 
downtown and other areas throughout 
the city with opportunities to become a 
viable destination for business and 
cultural activities, 
 
 
fostering a family friendly, walkable 
environment that is characterized by a 
variety of historic and local destinations.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The opening line captures the essence of 
the desire for the city to be a unique and 
welcoming -
sustaining by providing residents with 
the opportunities to live, work and play 
within the same community. 
 
 

to increase their capacity for civic, 
cultural, and commercial activities, 
making Dawsonville a stronger 
destination for people and dollars. 
 
 
The final line pays homage to the c
commitment to preserving the form, 
scale, and general structure of their 
historic downtown, and using that as the 
foundation of their growth. 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 12 
 

B. Goals and Objectives 
 
In addition to the values identified within the Vision Statement, other goals for Dawsonville 
were raised for consideration. In most cases, these goals are ideal principles and objectives 
that simply could not be efficiently incorporated into the Vision Statement but generally 
complement the values expressed therein. 
 
Revitalize downtown as a walkable destination for shoppers and visitors  Though also 
referenced within the vision statement, residents wished to emphasize the desire to restore the 
commercial and social appeal of downtown, making the city a true destination seven days a 
week and a more viable location for harboring events and festivals. This is paramount as the 
city strives to distinguish itself from the outlet mall and the Ga. 400 corridor. 
 
Expand the urban core of the historic downtown to connect with the City Hall complex  
The city has a general Urban Redevelopment Plan providing guidance on the expansion of 
sidewalks and application of design guidelines. The Urban Redevelopment Plan also calls 
for additional measures to improve the pedestrian access between downtown and City Hall, 
including amendments to land use policies and possibly the development of new streets to 
continue the urban block pattern southward from downtown. 
 
Continue to maintain high quality levels of service for all residents  Stakeholders 
expressed strong support for city initiatives at expanding services, providing open 
communication, and improving customer service relations. 
 
Continue efforts to improve the quality and variety of affordable housing  As 
Dawsonville grows so has the demand for more types of housing, including increases demand 
for senior housing and multi-family units. The city is encouraged to find ways to encourage 
this variety while also ensuring a safe standard for all new housing units. 
 

 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 13 
 

 C. Community Needs and Opportunities 

The needs and opportunities described here represent a compilation of key factors impacting the 
future of the community. They reflect an assessment of the conditions and factors influencing the 
area and people, stakeholder  knowledge of the community and comments received throughout 
the planning process.  
 
To effectively realize their vision for the future a community must develop a well-defined 
implementation plan. By identifying the core needs and priorities of the community, the 
government and its partners can develop specific mitigation strategies that must be accomplished 
to fulfill the desired goals and objectives of the vision. It is critical that these needs and 
opportunities be clearly defined and understood by the stakeholders because they form the basis 

nd short-term work action plans. 
 
 

A. Population 

Needs and Opportunities Mitigation Strategies 
 
1.) Managing growth:  
While most of the growth anticipated for 
Dawson County will occur in the 
unincorporated areas, the city will 
continue to grow both naturally and 
through annexations. As it does so, the 
city must work to ensure such growth is 
done in a manner that does not adversely 
impact the delivery of public services or 
alter the character of the community. 
 
 
 
 

 
 Monitor and evaluate annual Utility, traffic, 

and Infrastructure reports to ensure quality, 
adequacy, and efficiency of services. 

 
 Monitor and sustain land use management 

policies through Comprehensive Planning 
and development regulations. 

 
 Concentrate on alleviating/managing truck 

traffic through downtown Dawsonville to 
cultivate a safer environment for pedestrian 
activity and focus on enabling shovel ready 
projects. 
 

 Seek transportation grants for the planning, 
design, engineering, and implementation of 
infrastructure that supports the efforts of 
larger regional transportation entities, 
including the future bypass route as 
identified.  

 
 Focus on improved street connectivity and 

master planning that facilitates alleviating 
traffic congestion while allowing for future 
capacity building to promote economic 
vitality. 
 

 Seek to ensure that capacity is planned to 
occur commensurate to development 
activities, including public infrastructure 
projects and/or exactions, as necessary. 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 14 
 

 

 Consider grants to increase infrastructure 
capacity where needed to support desired 
growth opportunities in locations where 
development will serve the public purposes 
of economic development, social vitality, or 
addressing other community needs such as 
reducing crime, addressing pockets of blight, 
or utilizing underperforming assets. Key 
goals include the expansion of downtown 
roads, a walk-over bridge, sidewalks, a trail 
system, and water and sewer infrastructure 
to develop a 17-acre tract that connects the 
historic downtown area to newer public 
spaces cut off by major transportation routes. 
 

 
  

 
B. Economic Development  
Needs and Opportunities Mitigation Strategies 
 
1.)  Tourism opportunities:  
Dawsonville must work with Dawson 
County and other stakeholders in 
recognizing the aspirations and 
possibilities for tourism in the city to 
ensure economic success. 
 

 
 Work with the Dawson County Chamber of 

Commerce to create a Downtown 
Dawsonville Tourism & Marketing Strategic 
Plan in 2024, to continue efforts toward 
developing a coordinated and sustained, 
collaborative effort towards promoting 
downtown and the city as a key destination 

 
 

 Review signage with masterplan update 
including means to connect wayfinding with 
place-making efforts, to engage residents as 
well as visitors with cultural heritage 
interpretation. This effort will assist in a 
higher quality of historic preservation 
through heritage preservation, enhance 

-of-place  and leverage 
cultural assets for economic development. 
 

 Identify historic, cultural, and natural tourism 
destinations that require additional attention 
for success through the Downtown 
Dawsonville Comprehensive Strategic Plan. 

 

 Utilize multi-modal transportation design, 
including a multi-use trail or trailhead as a 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 15 
 

part of downtown master-planning efforts to 
create an environment of freedom of travel 
tied to leisure, sports and adventure tourism 
markets that will also increase local quality 
of life. These efforts will benefit economic 
development as well as quality of life through 
fun, social opportunity, health, and wellness. 
 

 Collaborate with Dawson County and 
possibly larger regional planning entities to 
plan for trails extending from the downtown 
Dawsonville trailhead to nearby parks and 
destinations beyond. Seek grants for the 
planning, engineering, and construction of 
these trails. 
 

 Seek community collaboration and grants to 
fund motorized trail opportunities that might 
increase the mobility of, resulting in physical 
and economic opportunities for disables, or 
aging segments of the population, 
connecting key residential locations with 
commercial and civic destinations.  

 
 Research the feasibility of creating lodging 

opportunities in downtown Dawsonville such 
as a campground or traditional hotel product.  
 

 Work to support a basis for a tourism market 
through development and redevelopment 

sense of place, provide dynamic public 
spaces, cultivate interesting shopping and 
dining experiences, all working toward 
memorable destination product development 
and marketing. 
 

 Examine zoning ordinances and amend as 
needed to ensure that permitted uses are 
consistent with desired character area 
outcomes. 
 

 Examine site development ordinances and 
amend as needed to ensure that regulations 
are adequate to facilitate quality construction 
that encompasses both the aesthetic and 
safety standards necessary to support 
increased economic activity and tourism. 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 16 
 

 Seek community partners and CDBG 
economic development grant funds, and/or 
Georgia Cities Foundation funding for the 
redevelopment of historic assets for 
commercial purposes through adaptive re-
use. These projects will aid efforts for 
heritage preservation, cultivating a unique 
sense-of-place, and create economic 
development opportunities. 
 

 
 
2.) Downtown economic 
development:  
An influx of concentrated reinvestment in 
the downtown area is necessary for 
success. Programs for revitalizing 
structures and businesses must be 
made available and promoted, while the 
city must finalize long term development 
plans for the area to begin coordinating 
capital improvements and implementing 
proper development policies. 
 

 
 Consider application for downtown 

. Regardless, apply 

as the four-point approach to downtown 
development: design, economic 
restructuring, promotion, and organization. 
 

 Seek to cultivate an environment that is 
supportive of new business or business 
expansion, particularly in support of small 
business, through tax credit and incentive 
programs. Seek to establish a Rural Zone 
through the Georgia Department of 
Community Affairs. 
 

 Create proactive platforms to pair 
entrepreneurs seeking to up-start a 
business, and existing businesses seeking 
to scale with potential partners, available 
education opportunities, or access to 
capital through publications both in print 
and online as well as on-on-one meetings 

roundtable .  
 

 Encourage small businesses with 
adequate potential to utilize GMRC 
Revolving Loan Fund loan grants, or SBA 
small business loans to finance business 
start-ups or scale an existing business; 
encourage them to take advantage of 
SBDC training and resources. 
 

 Utilize downtowndawsonville.com and 
social media to promote downtown 
businesses. Use these platforms to market 
downtown Dawsonville, present market 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 17 
 

data, and materials to encourage small 
business development. 
 

 Create and maintain inventory of 
undeveloped properties for new 
construction and vacant properties for 
renovation commercial opportunities 
around but not exclusive to areas 
concerning downtown Dawsonville, natural 
resources, parks, Atlanta Motor Sports 
Park, outlet shopping, etc. 

 
 Examine existing parking and traffic 

conditions and continue to work with state 
traffic entities such as GDOT for better 
feedback to determine better methods to 
manage both efficiently and improve 
sidewalk and multi-modal connectivity.  

 
 Develop a Redevelopment Plan, a policy 

for City directed efforts to encourage and 
support infill such as the 17-acre city 
owned parcel on 53 for master planning 
opportunities. 

 
 Create a Downtown Dawsonville Tourism 

and Marketing Strategy in conjunction with 
the Dawson County Chamber of 
Commerce, to develop a coordinated and 
sustained policy towards promoting 
downtown, as well as goals for product 
development, which may also include 
public events to engage the community 
and invite visitors. 
 

 Identify additional opportunities through 
master planning and connectivity for 
greater pedestrian experience 
enhancement of the streetscape through 
public infrastructure such as pedestrian 
seating, signage, lighting, trash 
receptacles, planters, and other potential 
improvements as identified through the 
community strategic planning process. 
 

 Maintain and promote DDA funding 
opportunities for reinvestment 
opportunities; consider the issuance of 
revenue bonds to fund downtown 
development and redevelopment projects. 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 18 
 

 
 Seek the 

transportation grant to support the 
planning, engineering, and construction of 
infrastructure improvements that reconnect 
areas of downtown Dawsonville separated 
physically, socially, and economically by 
highway through-traffic. These 
infrastructure projects, as identified in the 
Downtown Dawsonville Comprehensive 
Strategic Plan, will include constructing a 
walkover pedestrian bridge over Highway 
53, and completing undeveloped City 
roads to link the historic downtown district 
to City Hall and surrounding public spaces, 
with associated sidewalks enabling 
pedestrian connectivity otherwise unsafe 
due to heavy truck traffic. 
 

 
plan based on results from the Downtown 
Dawsonville Comprehensive Strategic 
Plan; seek to incorporate innovative 
solutions to address community needs. 
Enter into contracts as needed to 
implement plan in order to improve upon 
underperforming assets, create necessary 
infrastructure where needed, create 
economic opportunity, improve quality of 
life, and reduce pockets of blight; seek 
grants, loans, or a combination of funding 
options to undertake these projects. 
 

 Seek grants and/or loans to pursue a 
shared kitchen project that will both 
provide business incubation opportunity 
and a cannery component, which could be 
utilized by local farmers and community 
members. This project would support 
economic development, local agriculture, 
as well as community resilience. 
Collaborate with other local and regional 
entities such as Dawson County, the local 
school system CTAE program, the 

Technical College. 
 

 Collaborate with other public jurisdiction to 
consider and determine the 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 19 
 

appropriateness of developing a SPLOST, 
utilizing special tax districts, a tax 
allocation district, a community 
improvement district, a business 
improvement district, or a combination 
thereof to fund development and/or 
redevelopment projects in downtown 
Dawsonville. These projects should serve 
community purposes, meet targeted 
community needs and be detailed in the 
Downtown Dawsonville Comprehensive 
Strategic Plan. 
 

 Seek projects that encourage additional 
community-minded quality development, 
add jobs, or add to the cultural enrichment 
of the community to nurture a more vital 
downtown area. 
 

 Consider utilizing Georgia Cities 
Foundation loans to revitalize and enhance 
downtown areas including such activities 
as real estate acquisition, building 
rehabilitation, new construction, the 
creation of green space and parks or other 
public spaces to support quality downtown 
revitalization, redevelopment, and guided 
infill that encourages private investment 
strengthening economic growth. 
 

 Pursue grants for educational opportunities 
for City leadership, staff, and/or key 
community members that will facilitate 
collaborative efforts to implement larger 
community goals. 
 

 Pursue grants for additional planning 
processes to design, engineer, and reach 

-
work in conjunction with larger plan goals 
and objectives. 
 

 Work with the Appalachian Regional 
Commission for funding to undertake 
impactful projects that provide critical 
infrastructure for business and workforce 
development, such as the implementation 
of the Comprehensive Downtown 
Dawsonville Strategic Plan. 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 20 
 

 Consider the application of a Revitalization 
Zone through the GA Department of 
Community Affairs to utilize rural tax 
credits to promote job creation focusing on 
downtown Dawsonville, as well as site 
rehabilitation. 
 

 
3.) Transition of economic base:  
As Dawsonville and Dawson County 
become more suburban, the nature of 
industrial development and employment 
opportunities will change. Some aspects 
of coordinated economic development 
have become more difficult as the 
characteristics of the labor force and 
regional consumer market experience 
fluctuation. 
 
The same metropolitan expansion will 
also introduce a greater variety of 

economic development, including 
additional technical and education 
facilities and stronger financial 
resources. Particularly with 
improvements in transportation and 
communication, the city will be able to 
better draw upon these resources for 
promotion, recruitment, and economic 
expansion. 

 
 Maintain partnerships with post-secondary 

educational institutions, Chamber, GMRC 
Work Source, Goodwill Center, Development 
Authorities, and others as the opportunity 
arises. 

 
 Review annual report summarizing 

economic projects conducted for 
Dawsonville from DDA. 

 
 Provide opportunities for small business 

development, including developing 
recruitment and retention programs. 

 
 Research the feasibility of creating multiuse 

or co-work facilities focusing on technology, 
research and development, office, medical, 
service, or light industrial uses. Such 
facilities as a whole in a multistory building 
or in individual smaller locations can aid in 
business incubation and fill the growing 
remote work/ shared office development 
trend and take advantage of investments in 
continued NGN broadband expansion. 
 

 Pursue projects that include both creative 
and industrial makerspaces, as well as a 
shared kitchen (whether in combined or 
separate facilities) tied to small-scale retail 
or food service opportunities to intentionally 
support local entrepreneurial growth as a 
pathway to future small business. Such 
facilities can aid in business incubation and 
provide a continued pathway to the success 
of individuals transitioning from nearby 
educational resources. 
 

 Consider code amendments that allow for 
innovation spaces in appropriate zoning 
districts. 
 

 Consider code amendments that guide 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 21 
 

successful implementation of outdoor dining 
spaces and govern shared use of public 
spaces. 

 
 Utilize a combination of funding sources, 

such as grants, public-private partnerships, 
and perhaps the issuance of revenue bonds 
and other funding sources. 

 
 
4.) Increase in diverse range of 
employment opportunities and higher 
range of income opportunities:  
One aspect of the economy currently 
growing is the Service industry, a boon 
for local consumers but typically a 
weaker sector in terms of wages and 
benefits to local employees. Continued 
growth is encouraged but the city must 
monitor the overall changes to the 
economy to ensure a diverse range of 
employment opportunities is available for 
residents. 
 

 
 Maintain and increase partnerships with 

local Board of Education, post-secondary 
educational institutions, Chamber, 
Development Authorities, and other 
stakeholders such as Dept. of Labor, 
Worksource (GMRC) and business 
incubators. 

 
 Annual report summarizing economic 

projects conducted for Dawsonville. 
 

 Seek projects to create both business 
incubator and co-workspaces to provide 
viable, easily accessible employment 
opportunities that accommodate and 
leverage employment trends. 

 
5.) Increased demand for educational 
resources:  
Access to quality education and job 
training has become critical for the 
modern workplace to develop and 
diversify job skill sets. This requires not 
only the presence of education facilities 
and programs but regular monitoring of 
those programs to ensure they provide 
the level and types of education needed 
to compete in the workplace. 
 

 
 Maintain and increase partnerships with 

local Board of Education post-secondary 
educational institutions, Chamber, 
Development Authorities, and other 
stakeholders such as Dept. of Labor, 
Worksource (GMRC) and business 
incubators. 

 
 Develop annual report summarizing 

economic, job and training workforce trends. 
 

 In planning for any project that creates 
much-needed public meeting spaces, 
determine the interest of local and regional 
education institutions to offer teaching 
opportunities in the space, for example the 
UNG continuing education program.  
 

 Utilize business incubator space projects to 
provide a pathway for the success of 
graduates from the Dawson County CTAE 
program, as well as Lanier Technical 
College to encourage youth 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 22 
 

entrepreneurship. 
 

  
 

C. Housing  
Needs and Opportunities Mitigation Strategies 
 
1.) Aging housing stock/shortage of 
specific housing types:  
Many local housing units may require 
structural maintenance or repair while 
many more may simply lack the 
amenities or features to remain 
economically viable in the face of a 
rapidly growing housing market.  
 
The r e ce n t  growth Dawsonville is 
experiencing has produced an 
imbalance in the measure of two 
housing types: quality entry level 
housing for the area s workforce, and 
special needs housing for the elderly 
and handicapped. While these sectors 
are recognized as among the least 
viable for private developers, failure to 
provide options within proximity of 
Dawsonville will only serve to increase 
the costs for those consumers and likely 
adversely impact the general economy 
and local quality of life. 
 

 
 Promote DCA/DDA housing revitalization 

programs for homeowners. 
 

 Promote DCA CHIP program for housing 
revitalization. 

 
 Explore grants for neighborhood 

improvement projects. 
 

 Utilize code enforcement for outreach when 
hazards are identified. 
 

 Promote local Historic Preservation 
ordinance and state Historic Preservation 
Tax credit. 
 

 Maintain and utilize historic preservation 
design guidelines for downtown revitalization 
through historic preservation ordinance and 
historic preservation commission. 
 

 Add signs and crosswalks where ROW 
allows and work with GDOT on state roads. 
 

 Market Study to assess breakdown of 
housing trends and cost factors, gauging the 
influence of development policies. 
 

 Annual Utility and Infrastructure Reports to 
ensure efficiency of services. 
 

 Monitor and sustain land use management 
policies through Comprehensive Planning 
and development regulations. 
 

 Intentionally seek to design residential 
components of the downtown Dawsonville 
mixed use project in conjunction with remote, 
or co-work, and other market-driven 
employment opportunities. 

 
 Consider participation in GICH (Georgia 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 23 
 

Initiative for Community Housing) 
 

 Acquire and expand data analysis 
capabilities through Business Intelligence 
tools and resources, such as Esri and Placer 
AI, that support both benchmarking the 
success of projects and programs yet can 
also be shared with existing or potential local 
businesses to enable data-driven decision-
making toward more targeted, successful 
outcomes. 
 

 Seek to add sidewalks where possible that 
link housing developments to downtown 
Dawsonville and other key public areas 
whether by public or private investment. 
 

 
2.) Maintain Housing Variety:       
Natural demographic and economic 
trends are increasing the volumes of 
smaller households within all of Dawson 
County. As the community moves to 
support traditional family and large-
household programs and development 
types, Dawsonville must also ensure 
that a diversity of housing conditions and 
programs exist to support this variety of 
household types. 
 

 
 Market Study to better plan and assess 

breakdown of housing trends and cost 
factors, gauging the influence of 
development policies and feasibility of 
conservation subdivisions and small 
house development. 
 

 
housing/affordability demand issues. 

 
 
 
 

D. Natural Resources  
Needs and Opportunities Mitigation Strategies 
 
1.) Need for greenspace/ Improved 
management of greenspace:  
As Dawsonville grows more suburban, 
there is more pressure to not only 
provide greenspace but to do so in a 

character, provides actual environmental 
benefits and coordinates with 
recreational uses where possible. This 
issue becomes more critical as new 
development reduces opportunities while 
increasing the level of demand for 
preserved greenspace. The city must 
work to protect the ecology along local 
waterways to provide direct benefits with 
flood control, preserving water quality 

 
 Promote and maintain conservation design 

regulations for larger development. 
 

 Promote the environmental benefits of green 
development. 

 
 Explore options for financing of greenspace 

acquisition. 
 

 Review floodplain management and soil 
information control regulations against the 
latest versions from respective authorities. 

 
 Monitor and sustain land use management 

policies through Comprehensive Planning, 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 24 
 

and providing natural buffers and scenic 
beauty. Emphasis should be placed on 
benefiting the local ecology and 
targeting lands for protection that are 
environmentally sensitive areas. 
 
 

development regulations and best 
management practices. 

 
 Promote setbacks and phased development 

for smart development. 
 

 Amend development regulations and zoning 
as required to balance growth and 
development to protect the sense of place 
and character in Dawsonville. 
 

 Suggest open space/conservation 
areas/protection of tree canopy in 

natural resources and environment. 
 

 
ordinances, landscaping, and property and 
stream buffer policies. 
 

 Seek land acquisition through Department of 
Natural Resources grants to acquire and 
establish areas in or near downtown 
Dawsonville that promote either passive 
and/or active recreation. Achieving this will 
benefit both the environment through 
potential land conservation, local resident 
quality of life, encourage health and 
wellness, as well as support efforts to 
promote downtown Dawsonville to the sports 
and outdoor tourism market. 
 

 
2.) Improved resources for natural 
resource management:  
Advances in technology and 
environmental science now allow for 
more effective management policies. city 
efforts to protect the environment can 
outline definitive actions that build upon 
public awareness and utilize improved 
sources of information to better achieve 
preservation objectives. 
 

 
 Consider conservation design regulations for 

larger development. 
 

 Review floodplain management and soil 
information control regulations against the 
latest versions from respective authorities. 

 
 Monitor and sustain land use management 

policies through Comprehensive Planning, 
development regulations and best 
management practices. 
 

 Incorporate sustainable design as into the 
17-acre master plan infrastructure, such as 
green roofs, native and adaptable plant 
selections, efficient irrigation design, 
raingardens, energy efficiency, and 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 25 
 

stormwater measure that mimic natural 
hydrology.  

 
 Pursue grants for brownfields site 

remediation and future development. 
 

 
 

E. Cultural Resources  
Needs and Opportunities Mitigation Strategies 
 
1.) Need to recognize existing 
resources and take advantage of local 
funding and assistance sources: 
Encourage the inclusion of all worthy 
historic buildings, structures, sites and 
districts to the National Register of 
Historic Places and the Georgia Register 
of Historic Places. This would include 
buildings, structures and sites deemed 
notable in the city  history 50 years or 
older. 
 
Utilize regional, state, federal, and 
university programs that provide funding, 
staff, and services to enhance future 
historic preservation programs for the 
City of Dawsonville. 
 
 
 

 
 Consider application for downtown 

. Regardless, apply 

such as the four-point approach to 
downtown development: design, 
economic restructuring, promotion, and 
organization. 
 

 Support new nominations of historic 
resources to the National Register of 
Historic Places that are eligible. 

 
 Promote façade easements to maintain 

character. 
 

 Create an oral history program through 

which can be utilized for GIS story maps, 
history programs and interpretive 
education and heritage trails. 

 
 Utilize intergovernmental cooperation for 

history and historic preservation initiatives. 
 

 Utilize local, regional, state, and national 
organizations for funding opportunities for 
historic preservation. 

 
 Continually improve upon the quality of 

historic preservation practices. Conduct a 
new Historic Resource Survey in 2024 and 
consider applying for additional CLG grant 
funding to update Historic District 
guidelines to ensure that best practices to 
date are in place.  

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 26 
 

 Consider nomination to the National 
Register of Historic Places of relevant 
historic resources, as detailed in the latest 
Historic Resource Survey. 

 
 Seek SHPO grants and historic tax credits 

for Historic Preservation for the restoration 
of historic assets. 

 
 Seek National Endowment for the 

Humanities grants and/or CLG grants to 
support projects enabling cultural heritage 
development such as historical 
interpretation in public spaces, exhibits 
demonstrating cultural arts or processes in 
danger of being lost. These projects may 
be incorporated into larger projects or be a 
programming element of existing assets. 

 
 
2.) Need to support local interest 
groups:  
Encourage and support the Dawson 
County Historical Society s efforts to 
educate the public on the importance 
and benefits of protecting cultural 
resources. 

 
 Support the Dawson County Historical 

Society and other stakeholder groups that 
support the same. 
 

 Promote the Historic Preservation 
Commission (HPC) and local success 
stories related to the 
Government (CLG) designation for economic 
development related to historic preservation. 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 27 
 

3.) Need to encourage the adaptive 
reuse of existing resources:  
Promote the adaptive reuse of historic 
buildings and structures. 
 
 

 Develop Property Redevelopment Guide, a 
policy for City directed efforts to encourage 
and support infill. 
 

 Promote the CLG Historic Preservation Fund 
Grant through the HPC for specific 
restoration and historic preservation 
planning projects and events. 

 
 Create a downtown historic plaque program 

to promote the architectural history and 
heritage of the city. 
 

 
4.) Continue plans to revitalize 
downtown/ Coordinate new 
development within the existing 
community:  
Plans for downtown Dawsonville do not 
have the benefit of unified property 
ownership or financing, and they require 
additional, more detailed implementation 
strategies that must be coordinated with 
several other specialty plans. New 
development should be designed to 
complement the existing community. 

 
 Update and implement the Urban 

Redevelopment Plan in accordance with the 
Downtown Dawsonville Comprehensive 
Strategic Plan. 
 

 Identify appropriate parcels and seek 
acquisition of parcels to pursue 
implementation of the Urban Redevelopment 
Plan in conjunction with projects specified in 
the Downtown Dawsonville Comprehensive 
Strategic Plan or facilitate private 
development/redevelopment projects 
resulting in guided infill development 
targeted toward meeting community needs 
and desires. 
 

 Partner with existing property owners on 
wayfinding, streetscaping, lighting, public art, 
and other enhancement beautification 
projects. 

 
 Identify areas for additional pocket parks 

and/or conservation areas for nature 
preserve. 

 
 Explore funding options for urban 

redevelopment plans such as Carl Vinson 
Plan. 

 
 Explore options for a more in-depth Phase II 

Urban Redevelopment Plan, in accordance 
with the Downtown Dawsonville 
Comprehensive Strategic Plan. 

 
 Consider design guidelines for areas outside 

historic districts and expand district 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 28 
 

boundaries or the creation of special funding 
districts, as necessary. 

 
 Monitor and sustain land use management 

policies through Comprehensive Planning 
and development regulations. 
 

 
 

F. Community Facilities and Services  
Needs and Opportunities Mitigation Strategies 
 
1.) Expand and maintain water and 
sewer service: 
Dawsonville currently operates its own 
water and sewer service. For the city to 
properly plan for and attract quality growth 
it must ensure the quality and long-term 
viability of these services. 
 
 

 
 Annual Utility and Infrastructure Capacity 

Reports to ensure efficiency of services. 
 

 Update lead and copper regulations as 
needed. 

 
 Update sewer infrastructure building a 

carousel wastewater treatment plant doubling 
 

 
 Confirm future partnership terms and 

conditions with all utility providers. 
 

 Expand new and existing wells for water 
service. 

 
 
2.) Demand for additional meeting 
space: 
Dawsonville does not have a formal 
Civic/Conference Center for hosting a 
variety of indoor events. Renovations are 
ongoing for the Georgia Racing Hall of 
Fame and Museum/ City Hall complex 
that will provide improved meeting space 
but there is demand for some small 
convention space to support local and 
tourist events. 

 
 Conduct feasibility study through the Strategic 

Plan to determine type, size, and location of 
meeting facility. 

 
3.) New/ Expanded Schools: 
The Dawson County Board of Education 
has plans for at least one new school and 
several facility expansions that should 
accommodate increases in enrollment 
and allow for the use of modern 
technology. 
 

 
 Coordinate and communicate quarterly with 

the Dawson County School System to 
ensure coordination of investment efforts 
and efficiency of services. 

  

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 29 
 

4.) Parks and Recreation Plan: 
A new Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
will be needed to guide new land 
purchases and facility improvements 
through the next 20+ years.  
 

 Develop Parks and Recreation Master Plan. 
 

 Support the Dawson County Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan. 

 
 Continuing plans to expand and improve 

city parks. 
 

 Expand the  market that can be 
used for many cultural events. 

 
 
5.) Broadband: 
Increase coverage and better access to 
high-speed internet will be integral to the 
continued growth and success of 
Dawsonville for both economic 
development and residential use.  
 

 
 Increase coverage and provide more 

reliable bandwidth speed from providers to 
neighborhoods. 

 
 Expansion of North Georgia Network. 

 

 
 

G. Transportation  
Needs and Opportunities Mitigation Strategies 
 
1.) Balancing local traffic and 
commercial traffic: 
As Dawsonville and Dawson County 
grow more suburban, the major corridors 
will become viable for multiple uses. 
Uses that, at times, can lead to 
competing priorities, particularly in 
balancing through and tourist traffic with 
that of residents. The city must balance 
its overall priorities for growth, character, 
and land use management to ensure 
clear priorities for all major roadways to 
ensure an efficient transportation system. 
 
 

 
 Coordinate with GDOT on angled parking 

downtown. 
 

 Annual report concerning traffic data and 
updates to GDOT plans for the region. 

 
 Update Transportation element of 

Comprehensive Plan (as needed). 
 

 Analysis of downtown parking, signage 
and wayfinding for pedestrian 
improvements and enhancements such as 
raised pedestrian crosswalks and added 
sidewalks. 

 
 Concentrate on alleviating/managing truck 

traffic and focusing on shovel ready 
projects along the future bypass route as 
identified. 

 
 Focus on improved street connectivity and 

master planning. 
 

 Promote sidewalk improvements when 
feasible. 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 30 
 

 Evaluate feasibility of speed reductions on 
identified roadways. 

 
 Identify intersections where roundabouts 

can be utilized for safety improvements. 
 

 
2.) Maintaining the access corridors: 
Connectivity to Hwy 400 is a chief 
priority for residents and businesses 
alike. Yet this also causes the greatest 
blend of uses and competing demands 
as discussed above. For example, State 
Route 53 could serve as a commercial 
destination, gateway, scenic corridor or 
simple rural arterial. Management of 
these routes will be critical to 
determining a vision for the community 
and the effectiveness of measures to 
achieve that vision. 
 

 
 Monitor, encourage and sustain land use 

management policies through 
Comprehensive Planning and development 
regulations. 
 

 Conduct congestion study to identify and 
research funding options for traffic calming. 

 
 Promote the widening of 53 to 400 to 

alleviate traffic congestion. 

 
3.) Improving access to mass transit: 
Few opportunities exist for alternative 
modes of transportation, either as a local 
service or as a commuter service into 
metropolitan Atlanta. Though demand is 
not high for such modes at present, both 
the rate and styles of growth projected 
for the near future suggest a strong 
need for such alternatives to mitigate 
transportation concerns for the city. 
 

 
 Review Rural Transit Plan with GMRC; 

Consider options for car ride and van 
service. 

 
4.) Long-Range Road Improvement 
Plan: 
The city is served by many of the 

Road, and State Routes 53, 9, 142 and 
136 located in the north section of the 
city, also serves as a major corridor. The 
expansion to the north will prompt 
development and increase travel 
demand. There is a need to develop a 
focused road improvement program to 
guide public investment in the future, 
and to connect future land use planning 
with transportation planning. 
 

 
 Annual report concerning traffic data and 

updates to GDOT plans for the region. 
 

 Update Transportation element of 
Comprehensive Plan (as needed). 
 

 Investigate options for Perimeter Road 
expansion/Parkway roadway 
expansion/development and street 
connectivity to improve transportation 
throughout the city. 
 

 Concentrate on alleviating/managing truck 
traffic and focusing on shovel ready 
projects along the future bypass route as 
identified. 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 31 
 

 

 Explore funding options through 
TSPLOST. 

 
 
5.) Perimeter Road Corridor/ 
Intersections with Shoal Creek and 
Hwy 9 S: 
Completion of this perimeter road will 
reduce congestion in the historic district; 
improve freight movement within the city 
and county, and safety for local traffic, 
pedestrians and cyclists sharing the 
road. A focused transportation study is 
recommended to determine alternative 
routes. Findings from this study can 
guide future public investment in corridor 
preservation. 
 

 
 Investigate options for Perimeter Road 

expansion/Parkway roadway 
expansion/development and street 
connectivity to improve transportation 
throughout the city. 

 

 
6.) Establishment of Pedestrian and/ 
or Bike Planning: 
The city continues to improve pedestrian 
infrastructure with a long-term master 
plan that coordinates pedestrian 
interconnectivity between the historic 
downtown district and the newer 
development along Ga. Hwy 53, Ga. 
Hwy. 9, Allen Street, and Dawsonville 
By-Pass. There is an opportunity to build 
connectivity to State Bicycle Highway 
90.  
 

 
 Develop Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Accessibility Master Plan to address 
options for better sidewalk connectivity and 
identify multi-use path routes for alternative 
modes of transportation such as EV bikes, 
scooters, golfcarts, etc. 

 
 Update Comprehensive Plan with 

information from Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Master Plan. 
 

 Advocate for GDOT speed reductions, 
additional crosswalks, bike lanes and 
signage. 
 

 Seek sidewalk and/or trail connection 
between neighborhoods, key destinations, 
and downtown Dawsonville that promote 
meaningful outcomes, such as between 
the Dawson County High School and City 
Hall along HWY 53 E. Seek grant funding 
to support these projects in connection with 
the economic development opportunities 
provided by connecting people easily to 
our central business district. Seek approval 
from GDOT when sidewalk desired along 
state ROW. 
 

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 32 
 

H. Intergovernmental Coordination  
Needs and Opportunities Mitigation Strategies 
 
1.) Annexation and growth 
management: 
The city is under pressure from 
development to expand boundaries and 
service areas. This requires not only 
coordination as part of the Service 
Delivery Agreement but also effective 
planning by the city to ensure the proper 
quality of growth introduced to the area. 
 

 
 Update Service Delivery Agreements. 

 
 Monitor and sustain land use management 

policies through Comprehensive Planning 
and development regulations to ensure 

meets the c  
 

 Ensure annexation does not create issues 
for emergency services and 911 coverage. 

 
 
2.) Coordination with affiliated 
organizations:  
As Dawsonville and Dawson County 
experience rapid growth and change it 
becomes more important that the 
governments are coordinating their 
actions with those of all affiliated support 
organizations such as the School Board, 
Dev. Authority, Etowah Water Authority. 
and others. 
 

 
 For each partner organization, as 

appropriate, designate a Council member 
to serve as liaison. 

 

I. Land Use  
Needs and Opportunities Mitigation Strategies 
 
1.) Attracting quality infill 
development: 
Dawsonville has selected properties 
suitable for infill development but must 
work to ensure they are developed in 
ways compatible with the existing and 
proposed context of the city. 
 

 
 Create and maintain inventory of 

undeveloped properties for new 
construction and vacant properties for 
renovation commercial opportunities 
around but not exclusive to areas 
concerning downtown Dawsonville, natural 
resources, parks, Atlanta Motor Sports 
Park, outlet shopping, etc. 

 
 Examine existing parking and traffic 

conditions to determine better methods to 
manage both efficiently.  

 
 Coordinate with GDOT on angled parking 

downtown. 
 

 Develop Property Redevelopment Guide in 
2023-2025 after the Downtown 
Dawsonville Tourism & Marketing Strategic 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 33 
 

Plan concludes to update policy for the city 
to direct efforts to encourage and support 
infill. 

 
 Create a Downtown Dawsonville Tourism & 

Marketing Strategic Plan in 2024, to continue 
efforts at developing a coordinated and 
sustained policy towards promoting 
downtown and the city. 
 

 Create a downtown historic plaque program 
to promote the architectural history and 
heritage of the city. 
 

 Promote the CLG Historic Preservation Fund 
Grant through the HPC for specific 
restoration and historic preservation 
planning projects and events. 
 

 Partner with existing property owners on 
wayfinding, streetscaping, lighting, public art, 
and other enhancement beautification 
projects. 
 

 Maintain and promote DDA funding 
opportunities for reinvestment 
opportunities. 

 
 
2.) Incompatible land uses: 
Dawsonville will be subject to 
competing land uses and development 
interests along the arterial corridors 
within the city and in the transition 
areas between the rural county and the 
established, urban portions of the city. 
 

 
 Monitor and sustain land use management 

policies through Comprehensive Planning 
and development regulations. 

. 

 
3.) Accommodating new growth: 
Dawsonville will have to plan for 
incorporating new development into the 
city via annexation, requiring more    
studies concerning the expansion of    
utility service areas and monitoring of 
trends outside the city limits. 
 

 
 Annual Utility and Infrastructure Reports to 

ensure efficiency of services. 
 

 Monitor and sustain land use management 
policies through Comprehensive Planning 
and development regulations. 

 

 
4.) Downtown redevelopment plans: 
Redevelopment plans have been 
completed for downtown and the 

 
 Implement Urban Redevelopment Plan as 

funding becomes available. 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 34 
 

Georgia Racing Hall of Fame and 
M u s e u m / City Hall site. The city has 
also completed a similar plan for the 
central city that will connect the two 
areas. The city will use these for 
guidance to attract and manage 
development and capital improvements 
contributing to the revitalization of the 
central city. 
 

 Explore funding options for urban 
redevelopment plans such as the Carl 
Vinson Plan. 

 
 Explore options for a more in-depth Phase II 

Urban Redevelopment Plan 
 

 Consider design guidelines for areas outside 
historic districts or the creation of special 
funding districts, as necessary. 

 
 Monitor and sustain land use management 

policies through Comprehensive Planning 
and development regulations. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 35 
 

D. Land Use Assessment 
 
Land use management policies and programs represent guidelines for shaping development 
patterns that provide for efficient growth while also protecting sensitive social and environmental 
areas. This section presents an inventory of existing land use patterns and development trends for 
the community, allowing the local government to produce the most effective policies needed to 
manage the demands from projected development.  
 
Dawsonville is still the traditional social center of Dawson County but there has been an economic 
shift in commercial activity in the county away from Dawsonville east towards the Georgia 400 
corridor where it intersects with SR 53. The downtown area is currently a mix of historic and 
new structures filled with commercial and institutional uses. Some of the historic structures 
have been renovated, while others have not been well maintained. Growth in local tourism and 
the increase in demand for institutional space have kept most of the buildings in the traditional 
town center occupied. However, residential, and commercial activity is moving away from the 
downtown and city to outlying areas of the county and Georgia 400 corridor. 
 
To better achieve the co he city will foster more and better infill development 
to strengthen the vitality of existing areas. While economic growth is desired, the overall form 
and types of development are equally important for maintaining the city s character. Central 
Dawsonville should be the focus of increased commercial, cultural, and civic activity, taking on 
a more traditional urban form within a small-town context and scale. New housing will be 
encouraged with an emphasis on a variety of housing types and price points. New single-family 
detached housing closer to the urban core should exhibit traditional neighborhood forms yet 
also have sustainable structures and lots that readily retain market value. 
 
The form of development will explore more suburban and rural character further away from 
central Dawsonville. The main arterial corridors will feature some development, but this should 
be focused at nodal intersections while preserving the integrity of the roadways for through 
traffic. Outlying portions of the city will feature more rural residential activities comparable to 
those anticipated throughout Dawson County. This will minimize environmental impacts and 
capital improvement costs outside the urbanized areas. 
 
Lastly, should the opportunity present itself, the city will attempt to foster light industrial activity 
within the Elliott Airport Park to the west. Uses will be preserved to those minimal demands for 
auto traffic and utilities, while also minimizing the production of nuisances that might impact 
neighboring properties. Adjoining land uses will be preserved to rural conditions as both a buffer 
from the industrial activity and to retain the prevailing character of the area. 
 
 
 2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 36 

 

 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 37 
 

E. Areas Requiring Special Attention  
 
The Georgia Department of Community Affairs has identified the following seven special 
conditions and requires that they be addressed in the partial plan update where they exist within 
the community: 

 
 Natural or cultural resources. 
 Areas where rapid development or change of land use is likely to occur. 
 Areas where the pace of development has and/or may outpace the availability 

 of community facilities and services. 
 Areas in need of redevelopment and/or significant improvements to aesthetics 

or attractiveness. 
 Large, abandoned structures or sites. 
 Infill development opportunities. 
 Areas of significant disinvestment, levels of poverty, and/or substantially higher 

unemployment. 
 
The city has reviewed existing conditions and has identified areas that require special attention. 
These areas have been indicated on the enclosed map  of Dawsonville Areas 
Requiring Special Attention  

 
A.  Areas of Significant Natural or Cultural Resources 

 
The City of Dawsonville contains numerous streams which are a valuable natural resource and 
have identified in their Needs and Opportunities analysis: 
 

 the need for greenspace/ improved management of greenspace 
 improved resources for natural resource management  
 continue plans to revitalize downtown/ coordinate new development within the existing 

community that could include greenways and pathways. 
 
B. Areas Where Rapid Development or Change of Land Use is Likely to Occur  

 
1.   Downtown Connector: 17-acre Parcel which can connect the City Hall/Main Street    

Part area and the historic district. 
2.   Airport 
3.   Lanier Technical College/Education area 
4.   Proposed GDOT 2030 Bypass/exact route location still TBD 

 
C. Areas Where the Pace of Development has and/or may outpace the availability of 

Community Facilities and Services (Not Applicable) 
 
D. Areas in Need of Redevelopment and/or Significant Improvements to Aesthetics or 

Attractiveness 
 

1. Specific areas that require significant improvements to aesthetics or attractiveness 
notated on the Areas Requiring Special Attention Map include: 

a. Maple Street 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 38 
 

b. Stegall Place 
c. Pearl Chambers 
d. Flat Creek Drive 
e. Hwy 9 South Apartments 

 
E. Large Abandoned Structures or Sites (Not Applicable) 

 
F. Areas with Significant Infill Development Opportunities (Not Applicable) 
 
G. Areas of Significant Disinvestment, Levels of Poverty, and/or Unemployment   

Substantially Higher than levels for the Community as a Whole 
 
1. Specific areas of significant disinvestment, levels of poverty and/or unemployment 

substantially higher than levels for the community as a whole and notated on the 
Areas Requiring Special Attention Map include: 

a. Maple Street 
b. Stegall Place 
c. Pearl Chambers 
d. Flat Creek Drive 
e. Hwy 9 South Apartments 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 39 
 

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 40 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 41 
 

F. Recommended Character Areas 
 
To further assist in identifying development needs and target areas it is crucial to understand 
not only the land use patterns but also the prevailing character and context of a community. 
It is possible to identify these sub-areas within the community defined by architectural 
scale and style, functions and roles, traffic flow, and other factors that differentiate one area 
from the next. These can include the areas requiring special attention identified above and or 
existing community sub-areas for which plans have already been prepared. 

1. Historic District 
 
Description 
This is the physical and social heart of the city envisioned as having more vital, urban areas, a 
variety of uses and an overall architectural form that belies the established scale and character 
of downtown Dawsonville. Because of the plans for redeveloping the site around the City Hall 
this area is notably larger than just the traditional downtown. Included are several of the 
surrounding and connecting blocks that maintain the smaller, urban block pattern and similar 
massing of structures. T  commercial and civic sites 
that establish the city as a public destination. Many of these businesses rely on their 
collective volume to appeal to customers, playing off the urbanized nature of downtown as part 
of the attraction. 
 
Urban Redevelopment Plan: 

rther define its unique character through traditional town planning principles. 
The downtown will be a vibrant, pedestrian-friendly, mixed-use destination, free from truck 
traffic and franchise architecture, with proud citizens and small business owners who admire 
their past. It will preserve historic, cultural, and small-town qualities and maintain and promote 
aesthetic charm. 
 
Land Use Types 
Commercial 
Civic/Institutional 
Mixed-use 
Multi-family 
Residential 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Maintenance of Comprehensive plan 
Implement Urban Redevelopment Plan 
Explore options for a more in-depth Phase II Urban Redevelopment Plan 
Update of development regulations (as needed) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 42 
 

2. Gateway Corridors 
 
Description 
This is the area immediately outside of Central Dawsonville that features a mix of uses, 
including modern subdivisions and shopping centers, and is most often characterized by the 
transition from downtown to more rural Dawson County. Its designation is both the result of this 
need to transition between extreme densities and the desire to strengthen the urbanized core of 
Central Dawsonville. 
 
As development in this area will comprise mostly of residential uses and smaller-scale 
commercial activities, it has been designated Urban Neighborhood. As implied, the scale and 
form of new development should complement (not necessarily be equal to) that found in 
Central Dawsonville, particularly with regards to the density of land use, size of blocks and 
capacity for pedestrian accessibility. Streets should maintain connectivity, especially downtown, 
and properties should limit frontage parking areas. Residential uses may include subdivisions, 
but these should minimize cul-de-sacs, feature multiple access points, and emphasize 
connectivity with the city. 
 
Heavier commercial and public activity centers may be reserved for key nodal locations, at 
the intersection of arterial roadways. This would maximize the infrastructure while preserving 
the traffic flow, minimizing the number of curb cuts along arterials or traffic flow on collector 
roads. 
 
Land Use Types 
Commercial 
Residential 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Maintenance of Comprehensive plan 
Consider amendments to development regulations.  
Encouraging/requiring traditional neighborhoods 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 43 
 

3. Mixed Use 
 
Description 
This area is reserved for mixed use developments that will foster and support neighborhood 
and sub-regional scale commercial and public activity centers. Development at the major 
intersection and leading southward towards Central Dawsonville should exhibit a village form 
and scale that includes a mix of uses within the same block and/or building, small block sizes 
with marginal frontage parking and prominent pedestrian amenities that provide access 
throughout the area. 
 
Ancillary development outside the public and commercial aspects of the village center should 
provide some housing in a traditional neighborhood or middle-to-high density scale to support 
the village and minimize local automotive traffic. Additional housing can be provided on a more 
suburban scale or as part of a specialized development, but pedestrian connectivity is 
encouraged throughout these areas and roadways must minimize the use of cul-de-sacs 
and dead-end routes. Further, such developments are encouraged to pursue conservation 
design applications for environmental protection and to ease the transition between village 
densities and rural Dawson County. 
 
Land Use Types 
Commercial  
Mixed-use 
Multi-family 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Maintenance of Comprehensive plan 
Develop Village Center development regulation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 44 
 

4. Commercial 
 
Description 
Commercial development is focused in the central area of Dawsonville and along the major 
arterial roadways. It is important that future development focuses on design standards that 

. The gentrification of abandoned or older 
dilapidated commercial centers should be encouraged.  
 
Land Use 
Commercial 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Conduct forum reviewing/amending development regulations as needed. 
Consider guidelines for signage and lighting. 
Review property maintenance codes and enforcement policies; Amend as needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 45 
 

5. Residential 
 
Description 
This represents the outlying residential portions of the city to the northwest, northeast and 
south. There are no immediate plans to alter their general form or land use, and long terms 
plans suggest these areas will remain residential. Present levels of agricultural activity will 
continue as development pressures will allow, but neither the city nor the county will pursue 
capital improvements in this region to facilitate new development. 
 
This area will be fostered as a haven for larger residential uses and rural/conservation 
subdivisions to facilitate a buffer between the higher densities of Dawsonville and the rest of 
Dawson County. Most development should entail large lots, with an average approaching or, 
preferably, surpassing five acres per unit. Nonresidential activity should be kept to a minimum 
and compliment the rural character of the area, such as churches, neighborhood scale markets 
and services with limited parking and traffic generation. 
 
Land Use Types 
Residential  
Agricultural 
Conservation 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Maintenance of Comprehensive plan 
Update of development regulations (as needed) 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 46 
 

6. Public/Institutional 
 
Description 
 
This designation includes existing sites and facilities in public ownership for such uses as 
medical, educational, cultural, governmental, administrative, and protective services, and 
cemeteries. Existing churches are also included in this category. Uses within this character area 
are typically concentrated in specific locales. 
 
Land Use Types 
Medical Facilities 
Educational Facilities 
Cultural Facilities 
Government Facilities 
Cemeteries 
Churches 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Amend/adopt development regulations as needed. 
Refer to/develop design guideline reference material. 
Develop Iconic Images database. 
Develop/ Implement streetscape plan. 
 

 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 47 
 

7. Light Industrial 
 
These uses will be kept to those areas zoned in Dawsonville for industrial use and are locations 
where the existing infrastructure is available. Future land use industrial development would be 
focused on adjoining property locations due to these traffic and service requirements. The future 
focus of industrial development as well would be to encourage small light industries that need 
anywhere from 1,000 to 5,000 square feet of space and employ 3 to 20 employees. The idea 
behind this concept is to allow small business entrepreneurs to develop and grow in the county 
and become not just an industry, but part of the community. Collaborate with Dawson County 
regarding a potential light industrial complex proposed within the city limits. 
 
Land Use Types 
Industrial 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Develop utility and commercial traffic assessment for growing industry as needed. 
Conduct forum reviewing/amending development regulations as needed. 
Consider guidelines for signage and lighting. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 48 
 

8. Airport 
 
Description 
This refers to the existing airport on the city  western fringe. This is a private facility with select 
small-scale manufacturing and air service-related industries already on site. The potential exists 
for this site to harbor additional, similar uses capable of developing employment options for area 
residents. 
 
To attain the c  vision and stay within the context desired by Dawson County, this development 
should be done with minimal impact on the neighboring properties and the prevailing rural 
character of the area. Business types should feature low-to-modest levels of employment and 
minimal demands for public services so that the location does not require significant 
improvements to infrastructure or utilities, thus supporting measures to preserve rural land uses 
outside the airport. Structures should be modest and preferably concealed from view outside 
the property. 
 
Land Use Types 
Small industrial facilities 
Warehouse facilities 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Maintenance of Comprehensive plan 
Update of development regulations (as needed) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 49 
 

9. Bypass 
 
Description 
The proposed bypass and arterial roads within and around Dawsonville serve to connect the city 
with the outside world while also providing access for local traffic. By nature, these roads must 
retain high levels of service while managing larger volumes of local and through traffic. Outside 
of the downtown area most of the uses along the corridors are auto oriented, with larger 
conventional parking lots, wider spaces, and lower heights. 
 
To balance the differing issues of supporting commerce and the flow of traffic, development 
should be concentrated at select nodes, notably the major intersections along the perimeter road 
and future bypass. Development at these nodes may not require architectural standards but must 
accommodate standards for setbacks, accessibility and signage that could differ from adjoining 
character areas. These uses should still aspire for minimal amounts of impervious surface and 
complement the small-town scale of the existing urban form. Development at these nodes 
should also seek over time to foster a mix of uses and pedestrian connectivity, allowing the nodes 
to evolve into village centers if possible and thereby minimizing the demands for local traffic. 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Maintenance of Comprehensive plan 
Update of development regulations (as needed) 
 

 
 

    
          

 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 50 
 

10. Conservation 
 
Description 
An integral facet to the City of Dawsonville is the natural resources and rural heritage of Dawson 
County that draws many to the area. Additional open space, parks, pocket, or corner parks in 
the city should continue to be a wellness component during future planning and development 
efforts. Planned improvements such as the development of Main Street Park and the Farmers 
Market will aid in achieving the c goals for pedestrian accessibility and increased walkability 
throughout Dawsonville. 
 
Land Use 
Conservation 
 
Implementation Strategies 
Conduct forum reviewing/amending development regulations as needed. 
Develop design guideline reference material. 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 51 
 

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 52 
 

G. Quality Community Objectives 
 
Since 1999 the Board of the Department of Community Affairs has identified various Quality 
Community Objectives (QCOs) as value statements of the development patterns and options that 
will help Georgia preserve her unique cultural, natural, and historic resources while looking to the 
future and developing to her fullest potential.  
 
These ten objectives are adapted from accepted community development principles to fit the 

. Although these objectives are only 
recommendations, we are convinced that implementing these principles will result in greater 
efficiency and cost savings for local governments and a higher quality of life for their citizens.  

 

Applicable DCA  
Quality Community  

Objectives E
c

o
n

o
m

ic
 

P
ro

s
p

er
it

y 

R
e

so
u

rc
e

 M
g

m
t.

 

E
ff

ic
ie

n
t 

L
a

n
d

 U
s

e 

L
o

ca
l 

 
P

re
p

a
re

d
n

e
ss

 

S
e

n
s

e
 o

f 
P

la
ce

 

R
e

g
io

n
a

l 
C

o
o

p
er

a
ti

o
n

 

H
o

u
s

in
g

 O
p

ti
o

n
s

 

T
ra

n
s

p
o

rt
at

io
n

 
O

p
ti

o
n

s
 

E
d

u
c

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

O
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s

 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 H
e

al
th

 
Dawsonville X X X X X X X X X X 

 

 Economic Prosperity:  Encourage development or expansion of businesses and 
industries that are suitable for the community. Factors to consider when determining 
suitability include job skills required; long-term sustainability; linkages to other economic 
activities in the region; impact on the resources of the area; or prospects for creating job 
opportunities that meet the needs of a diverse local workforce.  

 Resource Management:  Promote the efficient use of natural resources and identify and 
protect environmentally sensitive areas of the community. This may be achieved by 
promoting energy efficiency and renewable energy generation; encouraging green 
building construction and renovation; utilizing appropriate waste management techniques; 
fostering water conservation and reuse; or setting environmentally sensitive areas aside 
as green space or conservation reserves.  

 Efficient Land Use:  Maximize the use of existing infrastructure and minimize the costly 
conversion of undeveloped land at the periphery of the community. This may be achieved 
by encouraging development or redevelopment of sites closer to the traditional core of the 
community; designing new development to minimize the amount of land consumed; 
carefully planning expansion of public infrastructure; or maintaining open space in 
agricultural, forestry, or conservation uses.  

 Local Preparedness:  Identify and put in place the prerequisites for the type of future the 
community seeks to achieve. These prerequisites might include infrastructure (roads, 
water, and sewer) to support or direct new growth; ordinances and regulations to manage 
growth as desired; leadership and staff capable of responding to opportunities and 
managing new challenges; or undertaking an all-hazards approach to disaster 
preparedness and response.  

 Sense of Place:  . This may be 
achieved by maintaining the downtown as focal point of the community; fostering compact, 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 53 
 

walkable, mixed-use development; protecting and revitalizing historic areas of the 
community; encouraging new development that is compatible with the traditional features 
of the community; or protecting scenic and natural features that are important to defining 
the community's character.  

 Regional Cooperation:  Cooperate with neighboring jurisdictions to address shared 
needs. This may be achieved by actively participating in regional organizations; identifying 
joint projects that will result in greater efficiency and less cost to the taxpayer; or 
developing collaborative solutions for regional issues such as protection of shared natural 
resources, development of the transportation network, or creation of a tourism plan. 

 Housing Options:  Promote an adequate range of safe, affordable, inclusive, and 
resource efficient housing in the community. This may be achieved by encouraging 
development of a variety of housing types, sizes, costs, and densities in each 
neighborhood; instituting programs to provide housing for residents of all socio-economic 
backgrounds; or coordinating with local economic development programs to ensure 
availability of adequate workforce housing in the community. 

 Transportation Options:  Address the transportation needs, challenges, and 
opportunities of all community residents. This may be achieved by fostering alternatives 
to transportation by automobile, including walking, cycling, and transit; employing traffic 
calming measures throughout the community; requiring adequate connectivity between 
adjoining developments; or coordinating transportation and land use decision-making 
within the community.  

 Educational Opportunities:  Make educational and training opportunities readily 
available to enable all community residents to improve their job skills, adapt to 
technological advances, or pursue life ambitions. This can be achieved by expanding and 
improving local educational institutions or programs; providing access to other institutions 
in the region; or coordinating with local economic development programs to ensure an 
adequately trained and skilled workforce.  

 Community Health:  Ensure that all community residents, regardless of age, ability, or 
income, have access to critical goods and services, safe and clean neighborhoods, and 
good work opportunities. This may be achieved by providing services to support the basic 
needs of disadvantaged residents; instituting programs to foster better health and fitness; 
or providing all residents the opportunity to improve their circumstances in life and to fully 
participate in the community. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 54 
 

III. IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 
 
While the Future Land Use Map illustrates the physical conditions expressed within the Vision, 
the Implementation Program is the overall strategy for achieving the Community Vision and for 
addressing each of the Community Issues and Opportunities. It identifies specific measures, both 
short and long-
goals.  
 

A. Policies and Long-Term Objectives 
 
One type of action a community can establish to achieve its vision is the establishment of policy. 
These are those ongoing principles and practices that the community will observe to realize 
specific objectives. Some policies may complement single action-items while others may provide 
ongoing guidance and direction to local government officials for making decisions consistent with 
achieving the Community Vision or addressing Community Issues and Opportunities. 

 
 For each partner organization, designate a Council Member to serve as liaison. 
 Support marketing of regional tourism and amenities within Dawsonville. 
 Support new nominations for the National Register of Historic Places and designate local 

landmarks. 
 Support the Dawson County Historical Society. 
 Support the Dawson County Parks and Recreation Master Plan. 
 Maintain partnerships with education institutions, Chamber and Development Authorities. 
 Promote housing revitalization programs for homeowners. 

 
 
B. Long-Term Activities and Ongoing Programs 
 
In addition to establishing policy, communities may also establish long-term or ongoing programs 
and activities that support identified objectives. These measures may complement policies or may 
simply be action items that must be employed more than once. These are recognized here to 
distinguish their need and conditions apart from the single-action items and to identify any 
required special terms or context. 
 

 Annual city review of Dawson County School System 5-year plans to 
ensure coordination of investment efforts and efficiency of services. 

 Annual report concerning traffic data and updates to GDOT plans for 
region. 

 Annual report summarizing economic projects conducted for Dawsonville. 
 Annual Utility and Infrastructure Reports to ensure efficiency of services. 
 Maintain inventory of viable infill opportunities. 
 Monitor and sustain land use management policies through Comprehensive 

Planning and development regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 55 
 

C. Report of Accomplishments  
 
This is a review of the open items from the Short-Term Work Program (STWP) from 2019-2023. 
As a new STWP is produced every five years, the items within the previous STWP must be 
identified for their status as complete, in progress, either postponed or cancelled. Those items 
that have been postponed or cancelled must also include a reason for their status.  

 
 
 

2018 
STWP 
Item # 

YEAR DESCRIPTION STATUS COMMENT 

1 
2019 

Main Street Park  Phase I (grading, infrastructure, 
utilities) 

Completed  

2 2019  design & construct Completed  
3 2019 Main Street Park  Phase II (playground, restroom) Completed  
4 2019 Construct Well #111 & bring online Completed  
5 

2019 Upgrade Well #108 w/ new automated water filter system In Progress 
STWP 2025 

(Item 20) 
6 

2019 
Stabilize banks around sewage treatment pond #1 

 
Completed  

7 
2019 Video, seal casing & upgrade Well #109 In Progress 

STWP 2026 
(Item 33) 

8 
2019 Engineered design for long range sewage expansion Canceled 

No longer 
necessary. 

9 
2019 Grind & repave cemetery parking lot In Progress 

STWP 2027 
(Item 40) 

10 2019 Sidewalk from Shoal Creek Rd to Rain Hill subdivision Completed  
11 2019 Computer Upgrade Completed  
12 

2019 Annex unincorporated islands into City In Progress 

Moved to 
Long-Term 

Activities and 
Ongoing 

Programs 
13 

2019 Expansion of Historic District Canceled 

Other 
alternatives to 

be 
considered, 

as necessary. 
14 

2019 
Develop Bicycle and Pedestrian Accessibility  

Master Plan 
Canceled 

TBD at a later 
date if funding 

and need 
available. 

15 
2019 Report on funding options for greenspace acquisition Canceled 

No longer 
necessary. 

16 
2019 Report on funding options for historic preservation Canceled 

No longer 
necessary. 

17 
2019 Review of tree/landscape ordinances In Progress 

STWP 2025 
(Item 28) 

18 
2020 HVAC Unit Replacement on GRHOF/City Hall Complex In Progress 

STWP 2024-
2027 (Item 

14) 
19 

2020 Trail from Burton  In Progress 
STWP 2028 

(Item 48) 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 56 
 

20 
2020 Purchase Replacement/New Vehicle In Progress 

STWP 2024-
2028 (Item 

18) 
21 2020 Purchase Chipper & Mowers Completed  
22 

2020 Water line infrastructure replacement In Progress 
STWP 2024-
2028 (Item 

10) 
23 2020 Upgrade Well #110 Completed  
24 

2020 
Engineer & construct multiple crosswalks w/ traffic 

devices 
In Progress 

STWP 2026 
(Item 42) 

25 
2020 Main Street Park  Phase III (Amphitheater, shelters) In Progress 

STWP 2024 
(Item 1) 

26 2020 Repave Angela Lane Completed  
27 

2020 Repave GRHOF/City Hall Complex Parking In Progress 
STWP 2025 

(Item 36) 
28 

2020 Sidewalk from Rain Hill Subdivision to Hwy 9 In Progress 
STWP 2026 

(Item 43) 
29 

2020 Implement the Downtown Revitalization Streetscape In Progress 
STWP 2028 

(Item 52) 
30 2020 Conduct Feasibility Study for Adult Living Community Completed  
31 

2020 Consider reopening City streets In Progress 
STWP 2025-
2028 (Item 

27) 
32 

2020 Develop Property Redevelopment Guide Canceled 
No longer 
necessary. 

33 
2021 Water line infrastructure replacement In Progress 

STWP 2024-
2028 (Item 

10) 
34 

2021 Expand Wallace Park In Progress 
STWP 2028 

(Item 41) 
35 

2021 Main Street Park  Phase IV (Splash Pad) In Progress 
STWP 2028 

(Item 51) 
36 

2021 Purchase Vehicle Replacement In Progress 
STWP 2024-
2028 (Item 

18) 
37 

2021 Grind & repave Maple Street Town Homes In Progress 
STWP 2025-
2028 (Item 

44) 
38 

2021 Grind & Repave Stonewall Subdivision In Progress 
STWP 2025-
2028 (Item 

44) 
39 

2021 Saw cut, grind & repave Stegall Place In Progress 
STWP 2025-
2028 (Item 

44) 
40 

2021 
Explore grant to move downtown power lines 

underground (per completed plan) 
In Progress 

STWP 2028 
(Item 53) 

41 
2022 Grind & repave Rain Hill Subdivision In Progress 

STWP 2025-
2028 (Item 

44) 
42 

2022 Upgrade Shoal Creek Lift Station In Progress 
STWP 2024 

(Item 7) 
43 

2022 Water line Infrastructure Upgrade In Progress 
STWP 2024-
2028 (Item 

10) 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 57

44
2022 Purchase Vehicle Replacement In Progress

STWP 2024-
2028 (Item 

18)
45 2022 Paint Water Tower Completed
46

2022 Sidewalk Perimeter Road to downtown via Hwy 53 In Progress
STWP 2025 

(Item 26)
47

2022 Construction of tertiary wastewater treatment plant In Progress
STWP 2024-
2025 (Item 3)

48
2022 Sidewalk Perimeter Rd to downtown via Hwy 9 In Progress

STWP 2025 
(Item 25)

49
2022 Purchase Vehicle Replacement In Progress

STWP 2024-
2028 (Item 

18)
50 2022 Comp Plan update Community Assessment Completed
51

2022 Conduct Perimeter Road Study In Progress
STWP 2026-
2028 (Item 

31)
52

2022 Explore grants for neighborhood improvements In Progress
STWP 2025 

(Item 29)
53

2023 Upgrade Flat Creek Lift Station In Progress
STWP 2026 

(Item 30)
54

2023 Upgrade Well #106 In Progress
STWP 2025 

(Item 35)
55

2023 Trash Can Replacement In Progress
STWP 2025-
2027 (Item 

23)
56

2023 Sidewalk Additions In Progress
STWP 2027 

(Item 39)
57

2023
Design & Development of southern portion of Main St 

Park
In Progress

STWP 2024
(Item 1)

58
2023 Grind & repave Creekstone Subdivision In Progress

STWP 2025-
2028 (Item 

44)
59

2023
Bring Well #109 online.

Completed

60
2023 Completed

61 2023 Comp Plan update Community Agenda Completed
62

2023 Sewer System Infrastructure Expansion In Progress
STWP 2024-
2026 (Item 

11)

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan

D. Short-Term Work Program

The third forward-thinking element of the Implementation Program is the Short-Term Work Program (STWP). This identifies specific 
implementation actions the local government or other entities intend to take during the first five-year time frame of the planning period. 
This can include any ordinances, administrative systems, community improvements or investments, financing arrangements, or other 
programs or initiatives to be put in place to realize the plan goals.

2024-2028 SHORT-TERM WORK PROGRAM 

2023 STWP 
Item #

PLAN ELEMENT DESCRIPTION

2

0

2

4

2

0

2

5

2

0

2

6

2

0

2

7

2

0

2

8

ESTIMATED 

COST; 

DEPARTMENT 

RESPONSIBLE

1 Economic Dev Main Street Park Phase III pickle ball, 
basketball court, 2nd rest room, shelter, 

expand skate park, expand disc golf, modular 
stage/amphitheater, shade for inclusive 

elements, additional electrical power

X
$400,000.00
Public Works

2 Economic Dev DCA Rural Zone Application X X
Planning & Dev

3 Community Fac

Design, permit, fund, construct & operate new 
Wastewater Treatment Plan

X X
$15,000,000.00

Public Works

4 Community Fac Update cemetery & historic structure records X
$6,000.00

Administration

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan

5 Community Fac
Land acquisition, drill new well, construct filter 
system/bldg., upgrade SCADA, & bring online

X $2,000,000.00
Public Works

6 Community Fac Relocate utilities for Shoal Creek Bridge 
Construction Project

X
$41,000.00

Public Works
7 Community Fac

Upgrade Shoal Creek Lift Station X
$100,000.00
Public Works

8 Economic Dev
Develop Downtown Strategic Plan X

$100,000.00
Planning & Dev

9 Economic Dev Miscellaneous upgrades to GA Racing Hall of 
Fame/Dawsonville History Museum

X
$725,000.00
Public Works

10 Community Fac Water system infrastructure replacement, 

upgrades & improved fire flows
X X X X X $300,000.00/year

Public Works

11 Community Fac Sewer System Infrastructure Upgrades X X X $250,000.00/year
Public Works

12 Community Fac

Dredge wastewater pond X $1,000.000.00
Public Works

13 Community Fac Generators for water wells & sewer lift 

stations
X X $800,000.00

Public Works

14 Community Fac

HVAC unit replacement on City Hall Complex X X X X $50,000.00/year
Public Works

15 Economic Dev Convert space in City Hall Complex to 

restaurant, distillery, and brewery, renovate 

patio

X $450,000.00
Public Works

16 Community Fac Land Acquisition for new water tower X $216,000.00
Public Works

17 Transportation Improve roundabout downtown at old 

courthouse
X $250,000.00

Public Works

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan

18 Community Fac

Vehicle & equipment replacement Public 

Works & Utility Departments
X X X X X $100,000.00 year

Public Works

19 Economic Dev Redesign & Expand City Hall Parking & 

Sidewalks
X $350,000.00

Public Works

20 Community Fac Upgrade well #108 w/new automated filter 

system
X $800,000.00

Public Works

21 Community Fac
Sidewalk connecting Allen St to Hwy 9N & 

Robinson Road
X $300,000.00

Public Works

22 Community Fac Upgrade Rain Hill Lift Station X $500,000.00
Public Works

23 Community Fac Trash Can Replacement X X X $25,000.00/year
Public Works

24 Community Fac Computer System Upgrade X X $20,000.00/year
Administration

25 Community Fac
Sidewalk from Perimeter Rd/Burts Crossing to 

Downtown along Hwy 9
X $1,250,000.00

Public Works

26 Community Fac
Sidewalk from Perimeter Rd/Hwy 53E to 

Downtown along Hwy 53
X $1,500,000.00

Public Works

27 Economic Dev Design, implement, construct projects for 

downtown strategic plan including reopening 

city streets

X X X X
Public Works

28 Economic Dev. Review of tree/landscape ordinances X $3,000
Planning & Dev

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 61

29 Economic Dev. Explore grants for neighborhood 

improvements
X TBD

Planning & Dev
TBD

30 Community Fac Upgrade Flat Creek Lift Station X $1,000,000.00
Public Works

Enterprise

31 Transportation Perimeter Road Extension Design Study, 

ROW acquisition, construction including 

roundabout at Hwy 9S & Perimeter Rd

X X X $26,000,000.00
Public Works

GDOT, future 

TSPLOST

32 Economic Dev

design & construction
X $1,250,000.00

Public Works

Grant, future 

SPLOST, 

Impact Fees

33 Community Fac Upgrade Well #109 w/new automated filter 

system, sleeve/casing, new motor
X $1,000,000.00

Public Works
Enterprise fund

34 Community Fac

Construct new/3rd elevated water storage tank X $2,000,000.00
Public Works

Enterprise 

fund, Grant, 

finance

35 Community Fac Upgrade Well #106 X $25,000
Public Works

City Funds

36 Transportation Repave GRHOF/City Hall Complex Parking X $60,000
Public Works

City Funds

37 Transportation Intersection Improvement - Roundabout at 

Hwy 9N & Perimeter Road
X $2,200.000.00

Public Works

GDOT, future 

TSPLOST

38 Community Fac
Land Acquisition for future park & recreation X

TBD
Public Works

Impact Fees, 
Grants, 

SPLOST
39 Community Fac Replace sidewalks as needed & add more X TBD

Public Works
TBD

40 Transportation Grind & Repave cemetery parking lot X $125,000.00
Public Works

Cemetery

41 Community Fac Expand niche columbarium at Wallace Park X $100,000.00
Public Works

Cemetery

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 62

42 Community Fac Engineer & construct multiple crosswalks w/ 

traffic devices
X $200,000

Public Works
GDOT

43 Transportation Sidewalk from Rain Hill Subdivision to Hwy 9 X $185,000
Public Works

SPLOST

44 Transportation Grind/repave (saw cut as necessary) Maple, 

Stegal, Richmond, Stonewall, Creekstone, 

Rain Hill, Allen, Burts Crossing, Georges 

Place, Robinson, Raymond Parks, Pearl 

Chambers, Perimeter, Stegal, Elliott Village 

Rd/St.

X X X X $2,500,000.00
Public Works

Future 

TSPLOST

45 Transportation

Intersection Improvements roundabout at 

Hwy 53/Allen St intersection w/connection to 

Hwy 9

X X $2,500,000.00
Public Works

Future 

TSPLOST & 

Grants for 

Downtown 

Strategic Plan

46 Transportation Intersection Improvements jointly with 

Dawson County at Shoal Creek/Perimeter 

Road

X $1,000,000.00
Public Works

Future 

TSPLOST

47 Transportation Convert Dirt Roads to Paved jointly with 

Dawson County Cleve Wright, Reece, & 

Pamela Circle 

X $2,500,000.00
Public Works

Future 

TSPLOST

48 Community Fac

Construct Trail jointly w/Dawson County from 

Burt Creek Rd to Veterans Memorial Park
X TBD

Public Works

Grant, Future 

TSPLOST, 

SPLOST, 

Impact Fees

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 63

49 Community Fac With Dawson County, fund study & potential 

multi-use trail system connecting downtown to 

Rock Creek Park

X TBD
Planning & Dev

Grant, 

SPLOST, 

Impact Fees

50 Community Fac

Reroof City Hall Complex X $600,000.00
Public Works

SPLOST, 

General & 

Enterprise

51 Community Facility

Main Street Park Phase IV (Splash Pad) X $425,000.00
Public Works

Future 

SPLOST, 

Grant, Impact 

Fees

52 Economic Dev

Implement Historic Downtown Revitalization & 

Streetscapes
X TBD

Public Works

Pending 

construction 

Perimeter Rd 

Extension

53 Economic Dev Explore grant to move downtown power lines 

underground
X TBD

Planning & Dev

DCA, GDOT, 

City

54 Community Fac 2028 Comprehensive Plan X TBD
Planning & Dev

General fund

55 Community Fac
Land acquisition for parks and greenspace X X TBD

Public Works

Impact Fees, 

future SPLOST

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 64

IV.    APPENDICES       

A. Georgia Mountains Regional Commission Area Labor Profile     
   

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 65 
 

 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 66 
 

 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 67 
 

 

 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 68 
 

 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 69 
 

 

 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 70 
 

 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 71 
 

B. Dawson County/Dawsonville Area Labor Profile 
     
 

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 72 
 

 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 73 
 

 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 74 
 

 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 75 
 

 

 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 76 
 

 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 77 
 

C. Dawsonville Demographics 
     

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 78 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 79 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 80 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 81 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 82 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 83 
 

D. Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Public Comment Survey Sample 
     

 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 84 
 

 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 85 
 

 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 86 
 

 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 87 
 

E. Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Public Comment Survey Response Summary 
 

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 88 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 89 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 90 
 

 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 91 
 

 

 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 92 
 

 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 93 
 

 

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 94 
 

 

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 95 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 96 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 97 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 98 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 99 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 100 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 101 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 102 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 103 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 104 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 105 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 106 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 107 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 108 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 109 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 110 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 111 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 112 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 113 
 

F. Comprehensive Plan Meeting Records 
 

 

 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 114 
 

 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 115 
 

 

 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 116 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 117 
 

 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 118 
 

 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 119 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 120 
 

 
 
 
 

Exhibit "A"



2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 121 
 

G: Capital Improvement Element   
 

2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan Page 122 
 

 

Exhibit "A"



Benefit
United Healthcare                              

Current Plan                            
CO-PA/RXL31Y

Aetna                                
Option 2                                          

300118546
In-Network In-Network

Primary Care Office Visit $20 copay                                                  $20 copay
Specialist Office Visit $40 copay $40 copay
Preventive Care 100% 100%

Individual Calendar Year Deductible $1,250 $1,000
Family Calendar Year Deductible $2,500 $2,000

Individual Out-of-Pocket Maximum $3,000 $4,500
Family Out-of-Pocket Maximum $6,000 $9,000

Coinsurance 100% 100%

Inpatient Hospital Deductible/Coinsurance Deductible/Coinsurance

Urgent Care $50 copay $50 copay

Emergency Room $500 copay $500 copay

Prescription Drugs $10/$40/$150/$300/$500 $3/$10/$35/$50/20% to 
$250/20$ to $500

Lifetime Maximum Unlimited Unlimited
Rate Guarantee N/A 1 year

Monthly Premiums
Employee Only 10 $1,267.87 $12,678.70 $1,125.88 $11,258.80
Employee/Spouse 3 $2,535.74 $7,607.22 $2,542.96 $7,628.88
Employee/Child 3 $2,345.56 $7,036.68 $2,365.78 $7,097.34
Employee/Family 8 $3,613.43 $28,907.44 $3,664.82 $29,318.56

$56,230.04 $55,303.58
Change in Premium 98.4%

City of Dawsonville - Health Plan Renewal                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
Prepared by: Mark III Employee Benefits - October 11, 2023

Exhibit "B"



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION REAPPOINTMENTS 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    ____ Other   

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve:    ____  Enterprise Fund    ____  General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

   TO APPROVE REAPPOINTMENT OF HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION MEMBERS: 
 

• ANGIE SMITH:  THREE YEAR TERM THROUGH 12/31/2026 
• SARAH CARTE:  THREE YEAR TERM THROUGH 12/31/2026 

  
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

• BOTH COMMISSIONERS ARE WILLING TO SERVE ANOTHER TERM.   
• ANGIE HAS SERVED ON THE BOARD SINCE 2018 
• SARAH HAS SERVED SINCE 2019 

 
NOTE:  BOARD MEMBER PERRY BOHN RESIGNED AND RECOMMENDATIONS ARE NEEDED 
TO FILL HIS UNEXPIRED TERM THROUGH 12/31/2024 
 
 
 

     OPTIONS:   
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION:   
 
 
APPROVE AS REQUESTED 
 
 

 
 
REQUESTED BY: Beverly A Banister, City Clerk____ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7b     
 

 

X 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE PLANNING COMMISSION REAPPOINTMENT 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    ____ Other   

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve:    ____  Enterprise Fund    ____  General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

   TO APPROVE REAPPOINTMENT OF PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBER: 
 

• ANNA TOBOLSKI:  TWO YEAR TERM THROUGH 12/31/2025 
  
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

• ANNA IS WILLING TO SERVE ANOTHER TERM  
 

 
NOTE:  BOARD MEMBER SANDRA SAWYER WILL NO LONGER BE ABLE TO SERVE AFTER 
12/31/2023 AND RECOMMENDATIONS ARE NEEDED TO FILL HER TWO YEAR TERM STARTING 
01/01/2024. 
 
 
 

     OPTIONS:   
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION:   
 
 
APPROVE AS REQUESTED 
 
 

 
 
REQUESTED BY: Beverly A Banister, City Clerk____ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7c     
 

 

X 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE ACCEPTANCE OF AEMC ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DONATION 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    ____ Other   

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve:    ____  Enterprise Fund    ____  General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

   TO APPROVE THE DONATION FROM AMICALOLA EMC IN THE AMOUNT OF $20,000 FOR 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

• THIS IS THE SECOND YEAR THE CITY/DDA HAS RECEIVED THE AWARD 
• FUNDS WILL BE UTILIZED TO FACILITATE AND EXPEDITE THE BUILD-OUT OF A 

VACANT DOWNTOWN DAWSONVILLE SPACE TO BE UTILIZED AS A RESTAURANT 
 
 
 

     OPTIONS:   
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION:   
 
 
APPROVE AS REQUESTED 
 
 

 
 
REQUESTED BY: Amanda Edmondson, Director of Downtown Development____ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7d     
 

 

X 

 







                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                                  EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION_____________  

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO RECOGNIZE AND PRESENT THE FOLLOWING:  
 

• SEPTEMBER EMPLOYEE OF THE MONTH 
• SUMMER EMPLOYEE OF THE QUARTER 
• OCTOBER EMPLOYEE OF THE MONTH 
• SERVICE AWARDS FOR OCTOBER 
• SERVICE AWARDS FOR SEPTEMBER 

    
 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
   
 
 

 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:                 Bob Bolz, City Manager________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   8    
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   EXTENDING A TEMPORARY MORATORIUM ON THE ISSUANCE OF 

DEVELOPMENT AND BUILDING PERMITS  
   

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

1. TO HOLD A PUBLIC HEARING CONCERNING THE EXTENSION OF A TEMPORARY MORATORIUM 
ON THE ISSUANCE OF DEVELOPMENT AND BUILDING PERMITS, AND 

 

2. TO CONSIDER APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION #R2023-07 CONCERNING THE SAME  
 

COUNCIL TO DETERMINE WHETHER OR NOT TO MOVE FORWARD WITH THE IMPLEMENTATION OF 
IMPACT FEES AND INSTRUCT CITY ATTORNEY TO DEVELOP AN ORDINANCE  

    

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• IMPACT FEE STUDY HAS BEEN COMPLETED AND PRESENTED TO COUNCIL  
• OPTIONS TO IMPLEMENT IMPACT FEES FOR THE CITY:  

 $1,700 PER BUILDING PERMIT, OR 
 $1.67 PER SQUARE FOOT PER BUILDING PERMIT 

• COUNCIL COULD ALSO CONSIDER PROVIDING A PORTION OF THE IMPACT FEES 
COLLECTED WITH THE COUNTY THROUGH AN IGA 

 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVAL OF MOVING FORWARD WITH DEVELOPING AN ORDINANCE FOR 
IMPACT FEES AND APPROVING THE RESOLUTION FOR ANOTHER EXTENSION OF THE MORATORIUM 
UNTIL THE ORDINANCE PASSES 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney_____ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   9    
 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

 

RESOLUTION R2023-07 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA TO EXTEND A 
TEMPORARY MORATORIUM ON THE ISSUANCE OF DEVELOPMENT PERMITS 
AND BUILDING PERMITS WITHIN THE JURISDICTIONAL LIMITS OF THE CITY 
OF DAWSONVILLE DURING A STUDY OF DEVELOPMENT IMPACTS AND FOR 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS; TO PROVIDE FOR EXCEPTIONS; TO PROVIDE FOR 
SEVERABILITY; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER 
PURPOSES 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville, Georgia is a Georgia Municipal Corporation which provides 
planning and zoning, as well as enforcement of building codes and regulations as a qualified local 
government; 

WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville directly provides and/or regulates, inter alia, the following 
services, all of which are and will continue to be impacted by residential and commercial 
development:  road and street construction or maintenance, solid waste management, water supply 
and distribution; wastewater treatment; stormwater collection and disposal; and recreational 
facilities; 

WHEREAS, local governments, pursuant to Chapter 71 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated, may consider and adopt development impact fees which are imposed upon 
development as a condition of development approval to pay for a proportionate share of the cost 
of system improvements needed to serve new growth and development;  

WHEREAS, such development impact fees may be collected at the time of the issuance of a 
development permit or a building permit, depending upon the particular purpose of the fee; 

WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville has started the process of studying and developing a system 
of development impact fees pursuant to Chapter 71 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia, 
Annotated; 

WHEREAS, there are tracts of developed land which could be redeveloped, and undeveloped land 
in the City of Dawsonville which if developed, or if rezoned and developed, could create 
significant impacts on the services, facilities, and infrastructure of the City of Dawsonville, to 
include but not necessarily be limited to significant improvement costs as a result of the 
development; 

WHEREAS, a review of development fee impact ordinances and studies related to the same 
confirms that residential development and usage creates the greatest impact on local government 
facilities, infrastructure, and services; 



 

Page 2 of 5 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville, pursuant to its police power, is authorized to enact 
ordinances to further and protect the health, safety, welfare and morals of the public; 

WHEREAS, given the potentially significant impact to the services, facilities and infrastructure 
needs and demands of developing or redeveloping property, the City of Dawsonville has 
determined that it is reasonable and necessary, in order to protect the health, safety, welfare and 
morals of the public, to enact a temporary moratorium on development and building permits in the 
City of Dawsonville; 

WHEREAS, the process of securing a study related to the imposition of impact fees has extended 
longer than originally anticipated due to a desire to obtain such in an efficient and cost effective 
manner from a trusted source with which the City of Dawsonville has experience;  

AND WHEREAS, the moratorium, as described herein, is found by the City of Dawsonville to be 
an appropriate, reasonably necessary, not unduly oppressive, and narrowly tailored exercise of the 
City of Dawsonville’s police power. 

NOW, THEREFORE, premises considered, be it ordained by the Council of the City of 
Dawsonville, as follows: 

Section 1. There is hereby enacted well as (b) the acceptance of applications for, or the 
issuance of building permits, within the corporate limits of the City of Dawsonville, 
Georgia, for a moratorium on (a) the acceptance of applications for, or the issuance of land 
development permits (including land disturbance permits) as properties which are in the 
following zoning districts: 
 

a. RA: Restricted Agricultural 
b. R-1: Restricted Single Family Residential 
c. R-2: Single Family Residential 
d. R-3: Single Family Residential 
e. R-6: Multiple-Family Residential 
f. R3R: Manufactured Home Subdivision District 
g. RMM: Residential Manufactured/Moved 
h. RMHT: Manufactured Housing Temporary District 
i. RPC: Residential Planned Community 
j. PUD: Planned Unit Development 
k. PCS: Planned Conservation Subdivision 
l. RCT: Residential Cottage 
m. AP: Annexed Property 

 
Section 2. The moratoria described in § 1, above, shall expire on the earlier of: 

a. the passage of six months from the date this Resolution is adopted by the Council 
of the City of Dawsonville; 

b. the defeat or adoption of an ordinance establishing development impact fees 
pursuant to Chapter 71 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated; 



 

Page 3 of 5 
 

c. a subsequent vote of the Council of the City of Dawsonville, Georgia, repealing or 
replacing the moratoria described in this Resolution. 
 

Section 3. The moratoria described in § 1, above, shall not apply to: 
a. any development or project where there is an active Land Disturbance Permit in 

place on or before the date of the passage of this Resolution, however, if the Land 
Disturbance Permit expires without being renewed before its expiration, then the 
moratoria described above shall apply to any future issuance of a Land Disturbance 
Permit for the same tract of land. 

b. any building site where there is an active Building Permit in place on or before the 
date of the passage of this Resolution, however, if the Building Permit expires 
without being renewed before its expiration, then the moratoria described above 
shall apply to any future issuance of a Building Permit for the same Building Site. 

c. any development or building site which does not fit into the exceptions identified 
in § 3(a) or (b), but for which the applicant for the development and/or building 
permit executes an irrevocable commitment that it will remit, in full, any 
development impact fee within thirty (30) days after the passage of an ordinance 
establishing development impact fees pursuant to Chapter 71 of Title 36 of the 
Official Code of Georgia, Annotated.  The Development Impact fee assessed 
pursuant to this exception shall be such as is established pursuant to any adopted 
ordinance, and if no ordinance is adopted then no fee shall be assessed. 
 

i. In the event that an applicant seeks an exception pursuant to § 3(c) of this 
Resolution, if the applicant fails to make the committed payment of a 
development impact fee within the time required, then the permit issued 
(and any related permits or certificates, including but not limited certificates 
of occupancy) shall be revoked, instanter, by operation of law without the 
necessity of any further action by the City of Dawsonville or any of its 
departments or employees. 
 

ii. In the event of a revoked permit or certificate pursuant to § 3(c)(i) of this 
Resolution, the unpaid development impact fee must be paid before any 
development or building permit or related certificate may issue for the site 
or development in question. 
 

Section 4. Severability.  If any section, provision or clause of any part of this resolution shall 
be declared invalid or unconstitutional, or if the provisions of any part of this resolution as 
applied to any particular situation or set of circumstances shall be declared invalid or 
unconstitutional, such invalidity shall not be construed to affect the portions of this 
resolution not so held to be invalid, or the application of this resolution to other 
circumstances not so held to be invalid.  It is hereby declared as the intent that this 
resolution would have been adopted had such invalid portion not been included herein 
 



 

Page 4 of 5 
 

Section 5. Repealer.  All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this resolution are hereby 
repealed. 
 

Section 6. Effective Date.  This resolution shall be effective the day following its passage by 
the Council of the City of Dawsonville, the health, safety, welfare, and general morality of 
the City of Dawsonville demanding it. 
 

[execution on following page]  



 

Page 5 of 5 
 

SO ADOPTED AND RESOLVED by the City Council of Dawsonville, Georgia, this _____ day 
of ________________________, 2023. 

     MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

 

By:        
       Mike Eason, Mayor 

 
 
       
Caleb Phillips, Council Member, Post 1 

        
             
              
       William Illg, Council Member, Post 2 
             
     
              
                                              John Walden, Council Member, Post 3 
 
        

____________________________________ 
       Mark French, Council Member, Post 4 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
    

 
        

 



                                           
 

 

     SUBJECT:   FY 2022-2023 AUDIT PRESENTATION AND APPROVAL                   
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023       
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
  
      TO PRESENT THE FINANCIAL AUDIT FOR FY 2022-2023 BY ALEXANDER, ALMAND & 

BANGS ** DRAFT WILL BE PROVIDED AT THE MEETING 
 
     TO APPROVE THE FY 2022-2023 AUDIT AS PRESENTED 
  
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
      
 
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
  
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
        
 
 

 
          REQUESTED BY:   Robin Gazaway, Finance Director_______________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   10   
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

SUBJECT: REQUEST FOR SPECIAL USE OF CITY PROPERTY 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:   11/06/2023       
 

 

BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

 Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget: _____ Capital Budget: Other________  
 
 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____ Enterprise Fund: _____General Fund 

 

 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:   
 
TO UTILIZE CITY PROPERTY TO CONSTRUCT A PARKING LOT FOR PUBLIC USE THAT 
WOULD ALSO SERVE THE FUTURE DAWSONVILLE CHARITY POKER ROOM 

 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
• PROPERTY IS IN POST 2 CITY COUNCIL MEMBER WILLIAM ILLG DISTRICT 
• PROPERTY LOCATION: NE CORNER OF INTERSECTION AT CHURCH ST AND LLOYD 

SEAY STREET SOUTH; TMP D01 033 
• VACANT LOT 
• CITY OF DAWSONVILLE PURCHASED PROPERTY IN 2007 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS:   
 
 
 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 

 
 

 
 
REQUESTED BY: _________Jameson Kinley, Planning Director______________   

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 11 
 





1 

 

 

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
PLANNING STAFF REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

Applicant ...................................................................Joshua Pender (C/O The Dawsonville 
Charity Poker Room, “DCPR”) 

 

Request ......................................................................To utilize city property to construct a 
parking lot for public use that would also 
serve the future Dawsonville Charity Poker 
Room 

 
Current Zoning ........................................................INST, Institutional District 
 

Size .............................................................................+/- 18,000 square feet 
 
Location ....................................................................NE corner of intersection Church Street and 

Lloyd Seay Street South 
 

Tax Parcel .................................................................D01 033 
 
 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL: 

 
The applicant is requesting to construct a gravel parking lot on City property, for the purpose of 
serving the future Dawsonville Charity Poker Room, which they intend to construct at 26 Roy 
Hall Street.  The lot would be open to the public for general use. 
SURROUNDING PROPERTIES: 
 

Adjacent Land Uses Existing zoning Existing Use 

North TB Residential 

South NB Commercial  

East CBD Commercial 

West TB Residential 

 

This property abuts the City’s right of way on all sides including Church Street, Howard Avenue, 
and Lloyd Seay Street South. To the North and West are single family residences located in our 
Historic Town Business District. Across Church Street is the Christian Life Ministries Church to 



  

2 
 

the south, and Aristo Craft classic wooden boat workshop and museum to the east. In relation to 
the City, the subject property is located on the southwestern corner between our historic 
downtown and our residential neighborhoods.  

 

HISTORY: 

 

The City of Dawsonville purchased the property in 2007. According to the tax assessors’ 

website, it was first assessed as improved in 1979. 

 
ANALYSIS: 

 
The following factors must be taken into consideration for developing any parking lot in the City 
of Dawsonville pursuant to the City’s development ordinance requirements: 
 
Development Regulations 

ADA Compliance 
- Based on the intended number of parking spaces there is a required number of 

handicapped spaces (Sec. 604) 
Design Requirements (Sec. 606) 

- Surface shall be concrete or asphalt with proper drainage. 
- Each parking space shall be clearly marked. 
- A parking lot pavement setback of ten (10) feet from any public street right-of-way and 

five (5) feet from any exterior property line 
- Not less than ten (10) percent of the total area devoted to parking shall be landscaped 

open space. 
Sidewalks (Sec. 109-53) 

- Sidewalks to be provided along public streets the entire length of the property. 
- The sidewalks must be constructed to conform to the state DOT sidewalk standards. 
- Sidewalks shall be five foot wide and four inches thick. 
- Sidewalks shall have ADA compliant ramps and warning pads at intersections. The 

warning pads shall be screwed down and thermal coated. 
Lighting (Sec. 2203) 

- Lighting is required and necessary to ensure adequate safety, night vision and comfort. 
- Lighting shall not exceed certain footcandles at property line. 
- All security and parking lot lighting shall be installed such that the lamp (light-emitting 

device) is not protruding from the bottom of the fixture. 
- All light fixtures shall be installed so that the light produced is emitted downward. 
- Pole lights shall not exceed 35 feet in height and shall have box-type fixtures. 

Stormwater 
- Applicable to new development that involves the creation of 5,000 square feet or more of 

impervious cover. 
- Depending on the performance of the engineering design provided, on-site detention 

could be necessary. 
 
Walkability / Safety 

The development of this site for the intention of serving the 26 Roy Hall Street should consider 



  

3 
 

the fact that there are no sidewalks along Roy Hall nor Raymond Parks. Charity events that go 
into evening hours may necessitate the addition of street lighting and sidewalks to assure a 
reasonably safe and walkable environment for pedestrians. The rights-of-way will need to be 
researched and improvements engineered to perform accordingly. 
 
Wayfinding 

To avoid large numbers of event attended parking in unauthorized locations, wayfinding signs 
and other forms of communication are necessary to help attendees understand how to locate the 
proper parking location. 
 
Enforcement 

- The city has a public parking ordinance for enforcement purposes.  
- Chapter 13 ARTICLE IV PARKING 

 
Maintenance 

- While the initial cost of a gravel parking lot is less than a paved lot, this method of 
construction is undesirable because it requires frequent maintenance, can be problematic 
for ADA compliance, can result in poor erosion control/prevention, can cause unsafe road 
conditions and potentially property damage. 

 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: 

 

From a planning standpoint, the subject property would be an ideal location for additional 
periphery parking for the historic downtown. It is located at a transition point that buffers the 
commercial from the residential with a short walk to the West side of the square, which is 
currently under-served in terms of public parking. Major concerns include the lack of sidewalks 
and lighting to support adequate pedestrian travel.  In addition, stormwater control measures 
must be implemented to prevent site erosion and avoid unsafe road conditions.  Ultimately, the 
site is ideal for the proposed use given proper design and construction methods to meet our 
current development standards, ADA compliance, and accommodate generally foreseeable 
additional safety needs. 

  



  

4 
 

CURRENT ZONING MAP 

 

 

 
 

  



  

5 
 

 
AERIAL 

 

 



                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:   ANX-C2100043 and ZA-C2100043   _______________________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023     
 

 
 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
Allen Street Properties, LLC and B & K Turner Family, LLP have petitioned to annex into the city limits of 
Dawsonville tract 2 with 32.937 acres (amended application) tract known as a portion of TMP 093 004 001, 
located at Perimeter Road, with a request to rezone from County Zoning of RSR (Residential Sub Rural) and 
RA (Restricted Agriculture) to City Zoning of R3 (Single Family Residential). Public Hearing Dates: Planning 
Commission on September 13, 2021, and City Council on October 4, 2021. Tabled indefinitely on April 18, 
2022; On August 7, 2023, item was removed from table and placed on the August 21, 2023 agenda.  Tabled 
until September 18, 2023. Tabled again until 10/16/2023, however, no meeting occurred due to no quorum. 
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
• Planning Commission denied the request on 9/13/21. The concept plan did not meet city ordinances. 
• Amended application to annex and zone tract 2 with 32.937 acre only. 
• The amended concept plan reflects the proposed 65 units. 
• Amended letter of intent request to approve 75 units yielding a density of 2.28 units per acre. 
• Applicant is requesting a variance to the Land Development Regulations Chapter 109 Sec 109-53- 
• Sidewalks to eliminate the required sidewalk along Perimeter Road lots 58 thru 65. 
• Planning department has provided a revised timeline. 
• Planning department has provided a department summary with recommended conditions if 
• approved. 

________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS: Approve, Deny or Postpone 
 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
If annexation and zoning is approved motion recommended to be as follows: Motion to approve annexation 
and zoning application C2100043 tract # 2 known as a portion of TMP 093 004 001 with 32.937 acres. 
Density shall not exceed 75 units or 2.28 units per acre. Approval shall be conditioned per Planning and 
Zoning Department summary letter dated 01.11.2022. 
 
If the variance is approved motion recommended to be as follows: Motion to approve the variance request to 
the Land Development Regulations Chapter 109 Sec 109-53-Sidewalks to eliminate the required sidewalk 
along Perimeter Rd lots 58-65. 
 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning______________________________________________ 
 

REQUESTED BY: Jameson Kinley        ____________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 12  
 



 
 
 
 
 
415 Highway 53 E. Suite 100 
Dawsonville, Georgia 30534 
 
   

 
 
 
 

(706) 265-3256 
Fax (706) 265-4214 

www.dawsonville-ga.gov 

 
Date: 1/11/2022 

 

To: Mayor Mike Eason and City Council 

 

Reference: ANX/ZA C2100043 Planning and Zoning Department Summary 

 

The planning department has provided the following pertinent information to help you decide on this 
request: 

1.  If the zoning amendment is approved the Planning Department is requesting a condition of zoning to 
include an approved water and sewer service area agreement between Etowah Water and Sewer Authority 
and the City of Dawsonville. The service area agreement dedication must include both water and sewer 
services. The agreement shall be dedicated to the City of Dawsonville prior to the issuance of a grading 
permit (LDP).  

2. If the zoning amendment is approved the Planning Department is requesting a condition of zoning to 
include the installation of an engineered AC or Solar powered, high intensity LED signs, in pavement 
crosswalk LED lights and activated device across Perimeter Road at the intersection of Allen Street to 
provide pedestrian access to Robinson Elementary school. 

3. If the zoning amendment is approved the Planning Department is requesting a condition of zoning to 
include the installation of a sidewalk from the 32.937-acre tract to the existing sidewalk system in front of 
Dawson County High school. 

4. If the zoning amendment is approved the Planning Department is requesting a condition of zoning to 
include a ten foot no access buffer along Perimeter Road.  

5.  If the zoning amendment is approved the Planning Department is requesting a condition of zoning to 
include the installation of a right in and right-out vehicle movement at the north entrance due to the 
intersection alignment not meeting GDOT intersection offset requirements. 

 
 
David Picklesimer 
Planning Director 
 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
415 Highway 53 E. Suite 100 
Dawsonville, Georgia 30534 

 

 
 
 
 

(706) 265-3256 
Fax (706) 265-4214 

www.dawsonville-ga.gov 

 

Date: 12/7/21 

 

From: David Picklesimer, Planning Director 

 

Reference: ANX/ZA C2100043 Timeline 

 

• Original application submitted to the city: 8/14/20. 
• Original application submitted to Dawson County BOC: 8/21/20. 
• Planning Department advertised original application: 8/26/20. 
• Original application response received from Dawson County BOC: 9/11/20. 
• Planning Commission public hearing on original application: 9/14/20. Applicant requested postponement. 
• Planning Commission public hearing on original application: 11/9/20. PC voted to deny. 
• Council held public hearing on original application:11/16/20. Council postponed until 1/19/21. 
• Applicant amended application: 12/9/20. 
• Amended application submitted to Dawson County BOC: 12/9/20 
• Dawson County BOC response to amended application received: 1/7/21.  
• Council held public hearing 1/19/21. Council tabled until arbitration complete. 
• Dawson County BOC withdrew objection 5/11/21.  
• Planning Department advertised Council public hearing meeting on 5/26/21 for amended application.  
• Council public hearing date 6/21/21 for amended application.  
• Council final decision date 7/19/21 for amended application.  
• Applicant requested to postpone 7/19/21 until 10/18/21 to allow adjoining property owner time to request 

annexation. 
• Planning Department advertised amended application 8/18/21 due to wrong TMP advertised. 
• Planning Commission public hearing date 9/13/21 due to wrong TMP advertised. 
• Planning Commission denied request 9/13/21. 
• City Council public hearing date 10/4/21 due to wrong TMP advertised. 
• City Council decision date 10/18/21.  
• City Council postponed until 12/6/21. 
• City Council postponed until 1/20/22. 
• City Council postponed until 03/21/22. 

 

  

 





Perimeter Road 
32.937 Acres 

 
All that tract or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lots 372, 373, 427 and 428 of the 
North Half of the 13th Land District, Dawson County, Georgia and being more 
particularly described as follows; 
 
To find the True Point of Beginning, commence at the intersection of Land Lots 371 and 
372 and the Easterly right of way of Perimeter Road (80’ right of way), said point marked 
by a ½ inch Rod found; Thence traveling on said Perimeter Road right of way the following 
three (3) courses and distances: 
along a curve to the right having a radius of 1766.51 feet and an arc length of 162.28 feet 
being subtended by a chord bearing of South 12 Degrees 33 Minutes 28 Seconds East  and a 
chord distance of 162.22feet to a point; THENCE along a curve to the right having a radius 
of 1049.03 feet and an arc length of 473.65 feet being subtended by a chord bearing of 
South 03 Degrees 00 Minutes 32 Seconds West  and a chord distance of 469.63 feet to a 
point; THENCE continuing on said right of way South 15 Degrees 56 Minutes 37 Seconds 
West for a distance of 651.37 feet to a point, said point marked by a ½ inch rebar pin set, 
said point being THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
THENCE from said point as thus established, leaving said easterly right of way of 
Perimeter Road, North 89 Degrees 17 Minutes 56 Seconds East for a distance of 172.17 feet 
to a point; THENCE along a curve to the right having a radius of 636.02 feet and an arc 
length of 103.03 feet being subtended by a chord bearing of South 86 Degrees 03 Minutes 
37 Seconds East  and a chord distance of 102.92 feet to a point, said point marked by a ½ 
inch rebar pin set; THENCE South 81 Degrees 25 Minutes 09 Seconds East for a distance 
of 106.01 feet to a point, said point marked by a ½ inch rebar pin set; THENCE along a 
curve to the left having a radius of 663.34 feet and an arc length of 195.29 feet being 
subtended by a chord bearing of South 89 Degrees 51 Minutes 12 Seconds East  and a 
chord distance of 194.58 feet to a point, said point marked by a ½ inch rebar pin set; 
THENCE North 81 Degrees 42 Minutes 46 Seconds East for a distance of 407.62 feet to a 
point, said point marked by a ½ inch rebar pin set; THENCE along a curve to the right 
having a radius of 59.40 feet and an arc length of 40.63 feet being subtended by a chord 
bearing of South 78 Degrees 41 Minutes 37 Seconds East  and a chord distance of 39.84 feet 
to a point, said point marked by a ½ inch rebar pin set; THENCE South 59 Degrees 06 
Minutes 00 Seconds East for a distance of 40.85 feet to a point, said point marked by a ½ 
inch rebar pin set; THENCE along a curve to the right having a radius of 159.40 feet and 
an arc length of 47.19 feet being subtended by a chord bearing of South 50 Degrees 37 
Minutes 08 Seconds East  and a chord distance of 47.02 feet to a point, said point marked 
by a ½ inch rebar pin set; THENCE South 42 Degrees 08 Minutes 15 Seconds East for a 
distance of 19.39 feet to a point, said point marked by a ½ inch rebar pin set; THENCE 
along a curve to the left having a radius of 240.60 feet and an arc length of 188.97 feet being 
subtended by a chord bearing of South 64 Degrees 38 Minutes 15 Seconds East and a chord 
distance of 184.15 feet to a point, said point marked by a ½ inch rebar pin set; THENCE 
South 87 Degrees 08 Minutes 15 Seconds East for a distance of 60.12 feet to a point, said 
point marked by a ½ inch rebar pin set; THENCE traveling South 02 Degrees 23 Minutes 



44 Seconds East for a distance of 817.75 feet to a point, said point marked by a ½ inch 
rebar pin found;  THENCE South 85 Degrees 54 Minutes 23 Seconds West for a distance of 
1589.65 feet to a point on the easterly right of way of Perimeter Road (80’ right of way), 
said point marked by a ½ inch rebar pin found; 
 
THENCE traveling on said Perimeter Road right of way the following four (4) courses and 
distances: 
along a curve to the right having a radius of 4750.52 feet and an arc length of 180.80 feet 
being subtended by a chord bearing of North 05 Degrees 58 Minutes 08 Seconds East  and 
a chord distance of 180.79 feet to a point; THENCE along a curve to the right having a 
radius of 3438.13 feet and an arc length of 387.33 feet being subtended by a chord bearing 
of North 10 Degrees 17 Minutes 12 Seconds East  and a chord distance of 387.13 feet to a 
point; THENCE along a curve to the right having a radius of 3438.13 feet and an arc 
length of 145.79 feet being subtended by a chord bearing of North 14 Degrees 43 Minutes 
43 Seconds East  and a chord distance of 145.78 feet to a point; THENCE North 15 Degrees 
56 Minutes 37 Seconds East for a distance of 360.06 feet to a point, said point being THE 
TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
Said property contains 32.937 Acres 







































































                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   ORDINANCE NO. 08-2023: INFRASTRUCTURE DEDICATION ORDINANCE 

AMENDMENT 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:   FIRST READING  
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 08-2023:  AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE INFRASTRUCTURE DEDICATION 
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA, TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

FIRST READING: NOVEMBER 6, 2023; SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: 
DECEMBER 4, 2023 
 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
    
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   13     
 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 08-2023 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE INFRASTRUCTURE DEDICATION ORDINANCE 
OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA, TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article IX, Section II, Paragraph II of the Constitution of the State of 
Georgia and Chapter 35 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia, the City Council of 
Dawsonville is empowered to adopt reasonable ordinances for local government upon matters not 
governed by general law and which are not inconsistent with the Constitution of the State of 
Georgia or the Charter of the City of Dawsonville; 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville previously enacted a process for private developers to tender 
their infrastructure to the City of Dawsonville; and 
 
WHEREAS, the process for private developers to tender their infrastructure to the City of 
Dawsonville has a bonding component and a timing component designed to protect the City from 
sub-standard or pre-maturely failing infrastructure; and 
 
WHEREAS, delays in the process of construction have created a situation where the City needs 
additional protection and assurance as to the condition and workmanship of the infrastructure 
before it is dedicated to the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined it is in the interests of public health, safety, morals, 
convenience, order, prosperity, and general welfare of the City of Dawsonville to update the City’s 
Infrastructure Dedication Ordinance to prohibit and provide for penalties for such conduct, 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the governing body of the City of Dawsonville, Georgia, does hereby amend 
its Infrastructure Dedication Ordinance as follows:  
 

SECTION I: Infrastructure Dedication 

Subpart B Land Development Regulations, Chapter 101 Land Development Regulations, Section 
101-2 of the Dawsonville Code of Ordinances is hereby amended by striking Section 101-2 in its 
entirety and inserting in lieu thereof a new section 101-2, as follows: 
 
§ Sec. 101-2 Infrastructure dedication. 

(a) Definitions  
 

(1) Date of tender: The date upon which the developer tenders the systems for 
dedication to the City of Dawsonville. 

Subject Matter: Infrastructure Dedication 
Date of First Reading: November 6, 2023 
Date of Second Reading: December 4, 2023 
Date of Adoption:  
 



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 
(2) Deficiency: Any failure of a system to comply with the Development Code. 

 
(3) Development Code: The Development Code of the City of Dawsonville, 

latest edition. 
 

(4) Systems: Any road, water, sewer, or stormwater management system which 
a developer tenders for dedication to the City of Dawsonville. 

 
(b) Prior to the acceptance of any road, water, sewer, or stormwater management 

system (hereinafter referred to as "systems") by the City of Dawsonville, the 
following regulations must be complied with by the developer of said systems: 

 
(1) At 90 percent build-out of the development under construction, the 

developer shall tender a dedication of all systems to the City of 
Dawsonville. The City of Dawsonville shall not accept the dedication of 
said systems until the later of 15 months after the date of tender by the 
developer, or 12 months after the final inspection of the system. The City 
may accept a dedication at a later date, and nothing in this section shall be 
construed to obligate the City to accept a dedication at any time.   
 

(2) At 20 percent build-out of the development under construction, the 
developer shall post a maintenance and performance bond for the road, 
water, sewer, and stormwater management systems in the development 
equal to 20 percent of the value of the systems. The value of the systems as 
referred to in this subparagraph shall be the total cost of construction of said 
systems as determined by the city based upon information provided by the 
developer and/or the city engineer, including both materials and labor, as 
required to comply with the development code. 

 
(3) During the time between the date of tender by the developer and the 

acceptance of the dedication by the City of Dawsonville, the developer shall 
have the responsibility to maintain and repair the systems and shall maintain 
and repair the systems so as to comply with the Development Code. In any 
event, the developer shall maintain and repair the systems so as to comply 
with the requests of the Director of Development of the City of 
Dawsonville. 

 
(4) Between the 50th and 52nd week after the date of tender, the City of 

Dawsonville shall inspect the systems to ensure compliance with the 
Development Code.  For the purposes of this ordinance, this inspection shall 
be the “final inspection” referred to in § 101-2(b)(1). 

 
(5) To the extent that said inspections reveal any deficiencies in the systems 

tendered by the developer, the developer shall have until the 15th month 
after the date of tender to cure the deficiencies. If the deficiencies are not 



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

cured by the developer, the City of Dawsonville shall have the right to call 
the maintenance bond and repair the facilities prior to the acceptance of 
dedication. 

 
(6) Should the maintenance bond prove to be insufficient to bring the systems 

up to compliance with the Development Code, or should it be determined 
that the systems cannot, for whatever reason, be expected to comply with 
the Development Code, the City of Dawsonville is not obligated to accept a 
dedication of systems by a developer. 

 
(7) The City of Dawsonville shall have the right to accept any or all of the systems 

tendered by the developer with or without the other systems so tendered being 
accepted. By way of example, after tender of road, water, sewer and stormwater 
management systems by a developer, the City of Dawsonville may, in its 
discretion, elect to accept only one of the systems, a combination of the systems, 
all of the systems, or none of the systems. 

 
SECTION II: Incorporation and Repealer  
 
Except as modified herein, the remainder of the Infrastructure Dedication Ordinance of the City 
of Dawsonville is affirmed and incorporated herein. All laws and parts of law in conflict with this 
enactment are hereby repealed.  
 
SECTION III: Effective Date  
 
This ordinance shall be effective the day following its passage by the City Council of Dawsonville.  
 
  
SO ADOPTED AND ORDAINED by the City Council of Dawsonville, Georgia, this _____ day 
of _______________________, 2023.  
  
 

MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL  
 

By:         
 
 

___________________________________ 
Mike Eason, Mayor  

 
  
 

___________________________________ 
Caleb Phillips, Council Member Post #1 

 
  



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

  
___________________________________ 
William Illg, Council Member Post #2 

 
 
 

___________________________________ 
John Walden, Council Member Post #3 

 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Mark French, Council Member Post #4 

 
 
 
ATTESTED TO BY:  
 
 
  
 
___________________________________      
Beverly Banister, City Clerk  
 
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   ORDINANCE NO. 09-2023: PARKING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:   FIRST READING  
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 09-2023: AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE PARKING ORDINANCES OF THE 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA, TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER 
PURPOSES 

FIRST READING: NOVEMBER 6, 2023; SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: 
DECEMBER 4, 2023 

 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
    
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   14     
 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 09-2023 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE PARKING ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA, TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR 
OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article IX, Section II, Paragraph II of the Constitution of the State of 
Georgia and Chapter 35 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia, the City Council of 
Dawsonville is empowered to adopt reasonable ordinances for local government upon matters not 
governed by general law and which are not inconsistent with the Constitution of the State of 
Georgia or the Charter of the City of Dawsonville; 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council is aware that, in various neighborhoods in the City of Dawsonville, 
parking on public property including on sidewalks has developed to the point that it impedes the 
flow of pedestrians who would use the sidewalks; and 
 
WHEREAS, when pedestrians are not able to use the sidewalks which were intended for their use, 
the pedestrians may have to resort to the street, creating a potentially life-threatening situation and 
increasing the danger to both the motoring and pedestrian public; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined it is in the interests of public health, safety, morals, 
convenience, order, prosperity, and general welfare of the City of Dawsonville to update the City’s 
Parking Ordinance to prohibit and provide for penalties for such conduct, 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the governing body of the City of Dawsonville, Georgia, does hereby amend 
its Parking Ordinance as follows:  
 
SECTION I: Parking 
 
Chapter 13 Traffic and Vehicles, Article IV Parking, Section 13-42 Parking Restrictions, of the 
Dawsonville Code of Ordinances is hereby amended by striking Section 13-42 in its entirety and 
inserting in lieu thereof a new Section 13-42 as follows: 
 

§ Sec. 13-42 Parking restrictions. 
 

(a) A parked vehicle in any parking space or parking area on public property 
shall be allowed to remain in said parking space or area until 9:00 a.m. on the day 
following the date the vehicle was parked in the parking space or area. Moving a 
vehicle from one parking space to another in the same parking area or parking lot, 
or to another parking area of the city, shall be considered the same as leaving the 
vehicle in the same parking space. For any vehicles left in a parking lot or parking 
area beyond the 9:00 a.m. deadline described, the city may utilize nonconsensual 
towing to remove the vehicles at the owner's expense. 

 

Subject Matter: Parking 
Date of First Reading: November 6, 2023 
Date of Second Reading: December 4, 2023 
Date of Adoption: 



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

(b) The city may designate certain parking spaces as having a maximum 
time limit of two hours by proper signage. The city may utilize nonconsensual 
towing for any vehicles parked in designated parking spaces beyond the maximum 
time limit at the expense of the owner. 

 
(c) Other parking areas and time limits may be added to this article by 

resolution of the council. Signage designating time limits in parking areas shall be 
erected by the city. The absence of a sign in a specific area shall not invalidate any 
portion of this article. 

 
(d) Authorized and unauthorized purposes. Parking in city parking spaces 

or areas is permitted for the purpose of attending social events, city events, visiting 
offices and businesses, frequenting city facilities, including leased facilities, and for 
attendance at court and governmental functions. Use of city parking spaces or areas 
is not permitted for storage of vehicles, nor is it permitted for commercial purposes 
unless approved, in writing, by the city manager or his designee. 

 
(e) Parking on sidewalks. No person shall park a vehicle entirely or partially 

within any sidewalk located (1) on public property, including but not limited to 
public rights of way, or (2) within a residential area regardless of the public or 
private nature of the sidewalk at issue. 

 
(f) Penalties and enforcement. 
 

(1) Citations and fines - Time: The owner of a vehicle parked in a 
designated parking space in violation of the time limits shall receive a 
citation issued by the code enforcement officer or by any law enforcement 
officer. 
 

a. The fine shall be $25.00 for each two-hour violation for 
any parking space with a two-hour time limit. 

 
b. For all other parking areas, the fine shall be $100.00 per 

day, starting at 9:01 a.m. the day following the date the vehicle was 
parked until it is removed either by the owner or through 
nonconsensual towing. 

 
c. The violator may pay the fine at city hall, or may contest 

the citation at city municipal court. 
 

(2) Citations and fines - Unauthorized purpose: The owner of a 
vehicle parked in a city parking space or area for an unauthorized purpose 
shall receive a citation issued by the code enforcement officer or by any 
other law enforcement officer, the fine for which shall be $100.00 for each 
day that the violation continues. 
 



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

(3) Citations and fines - Parking on sidewalks: The owner of a 
vehicle parked on a sidewalk in violation of this section shall receive a 
citation issued by the code enforcement officer or by any other law 
enforcement officer, the fine shall be $100.00 for each day that the violation 
continues.  
 

(4) Nonconsensual towing: Pursuant to the towing and removal 
procedures described herein, vehicles parked in violation of this code may 
be removed and stored in lieu of or in addition to issuance of a citation and 
fine. 
 

(5) Any costs incurred by the city in enforcing this article shall be 
added to the court costs and paid in conjunction with fines assessed. 

 
SECTION II: Incorporation and Repealer  
 
Except as modified herein, the remainder of the Parking Ordinance of the City of Dawsonville is 
affirmed and incorporated herein. All laws and parts of law in conflict with this enactment are 
hereby repealed.  
 
SECTION III: Effective Date  
 
This ordinance shall be effective the day following its passage by the City Council of Dawsonville.  
 
  
SO ADOPTED AND ORDAINED by the City Council of Dawsonville, Georgia, this _____ day 
of _______________________, 2023.  
  
 

MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL  
 

By:         
 
 

___________________________________ 
Mike Eason, Mayor  

 
  
 

___________________________________ 
Caleb Phillips, Council Member Post #1 

 
  
  

___________________________________ 
William Illg, Council Member Post #2 



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 
 

___________________________________ 
John Walden, Council Member Post #3 

 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Mark French, Council Member Post #4 

 
 
 
ATTESTED TO BY:  
 
 
  
 
___________________________________      
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk  
 



                                           
 

 

SUBJECT: REQUEST FOR ANNEXATION FEE WAIVER FROM DAWSON COUNTY  
 

                       BOARD OF EDUCATION    
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:   11/06/2023       
 

 

BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

 Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget: _____ Capital Budget: Other________  
 
 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____ Enterprise Fund: _____General Fund 

 

 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:   
 
DAWSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION HAS REQUESTED AN ANNEXATION FEE 
WAIVER OF $400 FOR ANX – C2400048 
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
• PROPERTY IS IN POST 2 CITY COUNCIL MEMBER WILLIAM ILLG DISTRICT 
• PROPERTY LOCATION: 514 ALLEN STREET, TMP 093 005 
• PARCEL ISLAND WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS 
• BOE MAINTENANCE BUILDING 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS:   
 
 
 
 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
REQUESTED BY: _________Jameson Kinley, Planning Director______________   

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 15 
 





                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   CONSIDERATION OF AN OPEN ANNEXATION PERIOD 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO DISCUSS CONSIDERATION OF ALLOWING ISLAND PROPERTIES TO ANNEX INTO THE 
CITY AT NO CHARGE FOR A DESIGNATED PERIOD OF TIME 

 
 
   ** NOTE: MAYOR EASON PREVIOUSLY REQUESTED THIS ITEM BE ADDED TO A FUTURE 

AGENDA FOR CONSIDERATION 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• COUNCIL PREVIOUSLY APPROVED OPEN ANNEXATION PERIOD ON: 
 01/08/2018 FOR 60 DAYS,  AND   
 12/17/2018 FOR 120 DAYS, AND 
 12/20/2021 THROUGH 04/30/2022 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: John Walden, Mayor Pro-Tem______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   16     
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PARKING ON CITY STREETS 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO PRESENT INFORMATION COLLECTED BY SUBDIVISION HOAS REGARDING THEIR 
ENFORCEMENT OF PARKED VEHICLES ON STREETS  

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
    

• ORIGINAL ITEM PRESENTED TO CITY COUNCIL ON 09/18/2023 TO DISCUSS ISSUES 
REGARDING RESIDENTS COMPLAINING ABOUT PARKED VEHICLES ON STREETS IN 
SUBDIVISIONS  

• RESPONSES RECEIVED FROM RED HAWK AND RAINHILL (SEE ATTACHED)  
• SPOKE WITH BURTS CROSSING II AND THEY HAD NO ISSUES 
• OTHER HOAS DID NOT RESPOND AND/OR THE HOA CONTACT IS UNKNOWN 

   
 

     OPTIONS:       

REQUESTING  DIRECTION ON HOW TO PROCEED TO ADDRESS THESE ONGOING ISSUES. 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION:    

    RECOMMENDS ALLOWING LEGAL TO DRAFT AN ORDINANCE TO REVIEW AND CONSIDER 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Trampas Hansard, Public Works Director_____ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   17     
 

 

 







                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   SALE OF SURPLUS COMPUTER EQUIPMENT 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   COUNCIL TO DECIDE THE VALUE TO BE PAID FOR THE IPAD’S PURCHASED DURING 2018.   
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

  THESE IPADS WERE PURCHASED FOR APPROXIMATELY $987.00 W/KEYBOARD AND PEN 
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
RESEARCH ON VALUE:  TRADE IN VALUE RANGED FROM $87.00 TO $150.00. 
              RESALE VALUE RANGED FROM $130.00 TO $210.00. 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 

 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Robin Gazaway, Finance Director____ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  18      
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: CITY MANAGER    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO PROVIDE PROJECT UPDATES  

 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES:   
 

 
    SEE ATTACHED OUTLINE  
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Bob Bolz, City Manager    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #     19     
 

 

 



CITY MANAGER REPORT 

 PREPARED OCTOBER 30, 2023, FOR NOVEMBER 6, 2023, AGENDA 

 
Moonshine Festival: Overall, a successful event with Saturday having by far the larger crowds. There were two law 
enforcement issues, some kids trying to steal from one of the vendor booths after hours and two 14 YOA kids 
drinking and acting inappropriately in the woods directly below shelter #3. On the medical side, we had two or three 
cases of issues with the heat, one fall when someone stepped off a curb and fell, and a busted thumb. The most 
serious concerned a gentleman who stepped over a barricade and attempted to cross Hwy 53 toward the funeral 
home. The funeral home did not allow cars to park in that area. According to witnesses per the DCSO, the gentleman 
failed to look, and the driver was distracted looking down toward the festival. The gentleman was struck. He was life 
flighted to the hospital. Otherwise, the festival went off without any problems. Kudos to K4K, the Board of Education, 
the Sheriff’s Office, EMS, FFA, all the sponsors/vendors, and especially to the Public Works Team who worked 12-14 
hours each day from Thursday through Sunday. Clean-up will continue most of this week. 
 
Mayor Mike Eason:  Please continue praying for Mayor Mike Eason as he remains hospitalized. 
 
Christmas Tree Lighting, Parade, Jingle Market, Food Truck, Entertainment & Santa: Our final event is in 
conjunction with our annual Christmas Tree Lighting, Jingle Market, and Parade on Saturday, November 18th as we 
welcome the holiday season to Dawsonville. Once Halloween is over, we will begin the massive decoration 
process.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
 
Christmas Decoration Contest: We are working with The Place to put together a Christmas decoration contest 
similar to what Good Shephard does with scarecrows. The DDA, the Chamber of Commerce, and sponsors are 
putting together cash prizes. Look for more information to come.  
 
City’s Scarecrow Entry – Good Shepherd Clinic Contest: Our entry received second place honors with first being 
taken by Iwo Jima on Hwy 53E.  
 
AEMC Donation: You may remember that Amicalola Electric Membership Corporation donated funds that were used 
in Main Street Park. We received another donation of $20,000.00 for economic development. We have submitted our 
recommendations for spending the funds to AEMC. 
 
Downtown Strategic Plan: TSW and city staff hosted a very successful Strategic Plan Kick-off Meeting on 
September 7th with over 50 people in attendance. The presentation and feedback are available, which our Downtown 
Director has provided. This will be a portion of the community visioning stage of strategic plaining. Our next meeting 
is November 2nd at 6 PM. Please review the following link. DOWNTOWN DAWSONVILLE STRATEGIC PLAN 
PUBLIC MEETING #1 RESULTS (canva.com) 

Main Street Park Court Projects: The project is moving along with installation of the fence and net posts underway. 
Power has already been installed at that location. 
 
Impact Fees Study: With approval and adoption of Comprehensive Plan, Adam Hazell at GMRC should be 
preparing his fee recommendations and our final CIP. 

https://www.canva.com/design/DAFuJJdzKOw/raHAtWB3M4iFwO95RuF8AQ/view?website#2:comprehansive-strategic-plan
https://www.canva.com/design/DAFuJJdzKOw/raHAtWB3M4iFwO95RuF8AQ/view?website#2:comprehansive-strategic-plan


Rental Space - Distillery: The Fire Marshal has approved engineered drawings, and we expect work to start as 
soon as the festival is over. Station Place has submitted a draft lease agreement that is with our attorney. Work will 
start on the patio space as well after the Moonshine Festival. 
 
Annexation Request: Superintendent LeCave reached out to me and advised that they have decided to annex their 
maintenance facility at the corner of Perimeter Road and Allen Street. They will be requesting a fee waiver and have 
submitted paperwork. Timeline: Application sent to applicant 10.20.2023, Planning commission Meeting 12.11.2023, 
City Council Meeting 12.18.2023, City Council Discussion 01.11.2024. 

Expansion of Disc Golf Course: With approval of the City Council, the draft IGA has been submitted to the BOE. 
Superintendent LeCave advised that it has been approved and she will be sending it over. Now we can layout the 
course and begin clearing. 
 
Skate Park: The concrete pad is poured, and the skate elements ordered. Due to a backlog of orders and supply 
chain difficulties, it may be late 2023 or early 2024 before the new elements will be installed and the old elements 
relocated. The concrete contractor completed ground dressing this week. 
 
City Commissions and Authorities: We still have positions that need filling for the Planning Commission, the HPC, 
and the DDA. 
 
DCA Historic Resource Survey $6,000.00 Grant: Wit the City Council awarding the contract, work should 
begin soon. 

GMRC Banquet: We will again host GMRC for the November banquet on the 16th in the Pirkle Room. 

City Hall Work: The metal exterior walls were pressure washed and painted and look brand new.  

Farmer’s Market: The market had a successful year with October 21st being their last market day.  
 
Well #112 Drilling: We have recommendations and appraisals for a test well site and a promising spring location we 
will be bringing to the City Council. 
 
Georgia Racing Hall OF Fame:  

• The American flag wall repainting is complete funded by the city. 
• The rear wall mural incorporating the design approved by the City Council is complete and looks great. It will 

not be funded out of their GA Fund One grant.  
• We still await engineered drawings from DHM. DCA has advised that the DHM may want to make some 

changes based on patio renovation plans.  
• The GRHOF will be proposing removal of some bathroom space converting it to storage. Once we have 

received the plans, we will bring them to the City Council for approval. 
 
Governor’s Office of Planning & Budget Grant for Water System Infrastructure due to Population Increase: 
No news on the grant we applied for offered by the Governor’s Office of OPB that can be awarded to municipalities 
experiencing significant population increases. The grant request totaled $1,154,720.00 and would be used to cover 
the cost of drilling and setting up operation of the new well. The grant requires a 75-25 match; so, our portion would 
be $285,000.00. We have already budgeted in our Enterprise Fund for the total amount. If awarded, this could 



represent a savings of at least $896,220.00.  
EWSA Service Delivery Area Agreement Implementation: Implementation is complete, and we are working out 
any kinks as they arise. 
 
Lead & Copper Pipe Grant: Staff have identified pertinent areas and are making changes as needed. 
 
Wastewater Treatment Plant: Steff are awaiting approval from the US Fish & Wildlife Service for their assessment 
of darters. Then, once approved, the design plans should go quickly through EPD and USDA processes. USDA has 
been awarding 45% grants and GEFA loans are under 3%. The open market rates have been good. All will be 
evaluated. Construction times are extended because of supply line issues. They anticipate a two-year construction 
time. They anticipate costs up to $15 million and we have a $3 million grant from the Governor’s Office. 

Roads & Streets: 

• TSPLOST: Staff continue to work with the county to develop a list of projects for future consideration. We 
received engineered cost estimates. 

• Improvements to Downtown Roundabout: GDOT has rebid the project to restripe the crosswalks around 
the old courthouse square. When a contractor is selected and an NTP issued, they will notify us. 

• Shoal Creek Bridge Construction & Paving Project: The city requested utility relocation funds from 
GDOT to cover the $200,000.00 cost required to relocate the city waterline as needed for the bridge 
project. With the help of the City Council/Mayor, we negotiated our portion to a cost of only $40,805.00. 

 
Dawson County Hazard Mitigation Task Force: Last updated in 2018 with city participation, both the City Manager 
and the Public Works Director participated this week in a virtual working group revising the plan for 2023. 
 
Special Events:  

• November 18 – Downtown Dawsonville Christmas Parade, Tree Lighting, Jingle Market, Food Trucks 
• Gospel In the Park: Mark your calendars for May 11, 2024, as we host a gospel music festival in Main 

Street Park. Acts already confirmed for the event, include Randy & Mary Perry (Randy of the original The 
Perrys), Raven Harris (possibly the entire Raven Welch Band), in the works Jaden’s Call, Karen Peck and 
New River with Josh Sims of Premier Rendition providing technical assistance with audio and lights. 

 
Main Street Park Projects: 

• Playground & Shade: Staff continue researching shade for various locations in the park and the dog park. 
We received $10,000.00 from the Dawsonville Civitan Club which will be used for this project over the 
inclusive playground area. We hope installation will occur this winter. 

• Picnic Shelters #1 and #3: Electrical power has been installed at both shelters. 
• Disc Golf: Discussed above. 
• Basketball Court & Pickleball Courts:  Discussed above. 
• Skate Park Expansion: Discussed above. 
• Small Bathroom between Shelter #3 and Skate Park/Court Area: We are designing a rest room that can 

be set on site hooked up to utilities. 
• Water Fountains: We continue evaluating additional locations for water fountains within the park, each 

costing about $7,000. 
• Stage: Staff are researching the purchase of a hydraulic, mobile stage We have learned that John Megal 

may be interested in sponsoring the amphitheater. 
• Dog Park: A ribbon cutting is being planned.  
• Splash Pad: Research into the possibility of adding this amenity is underway. The current cost estimate is 



over $350,000.00. 
• Power for Shelters & Christmas Tree Walk: The power is at shelters #1 and #3 and the court complex 

and should be completed in the next two weeks. 
 

Leak Adjustments:  There were only two leak adjustments this month, at a total cost of $285.93 for water and 
$120.52 for sewer totaling $406.45. 

Calendar YTD $3,069.82 totals for the same period last year totaled $15,617.24 reducing lost revenue and 
saving water. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       STAFF REPORT: FINANCE DIRECTOR    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/06/2023      
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO PRESENT FUND BALANCE AND ACTIVITY THROUGH OCTOBER 31, 2023 

 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
    SEE ATTACHED FINANCIAL REPORTS  
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
      
      
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Robin Gazaway, Finance Director   

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  20   
 

 

 



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
GENERAL FUND

July 1, 2023 - October 31, 2023

34%

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
      Taxes 2,457,600$       917,165$          37.32%
      Licenses and permits 92,300              34,785              37.69%
      Intergovernmental revenues 6,000                -                   0.00%
      Fees 297,550            51,199              17.21%
      Other 409,895            61,799              15.08%

               Total revenues 3,263,345         1,064,948         32.63%

EXPENDITURES
   Department:
      Council 162,200            51,100              31.50%
      Mayor 63,700              5,333                8.37%
      Elections 20,000              932                   4.66%
      Administration 1,037,433         272,340            26.25%
      City Hall building 174,460            108,482            62.18%
      Animal control 2,040                100                   4.90%
      Roads 796,000            196,797            24.72%
      Parks 104,000            26,322              25.31%
      Planning and zoning 572,839            169,081            29.52%
      Economic development 330,673            138,807            41.98%

 
               Total expenditures 3,263,345         969,294            29.70%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 95,654              

      Transfer in From Reserves (95,654)            

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
WATER, SEWER, AND GARBAGE FUND

July 1, 2023 - October 31, 2023

Budget Actual Percentage
REVENUES
       Water fees 895,000$        251,379$        28.09%
       Sewer fees 916,000          294,743          32.18%
       Garbage fees 230,200          86,926            37.76%
       Miscellaneous 556,507          58,211            10.46%

               
               Total revenues 2,597,707       691,259          26.61%

EXPENDITURES
        Depreciation 633,000          173,716          27.44%
        Garbage service 230,200          138,789          60.29%
        Group insurance 200,000          43,604            21.80%
        Insurance 600                 -                  0.00%
        Interest 87,450            18,939            21.66%
        Payroll taxes 36,000            8,257              22.94%
        Professional 201,000          79,269            39.44%
        Miscellaneous 166,205          264,306          159.02%
        Repairs/supplies 274,000          76,292            27.84%
        Retirement 30,000            9,772              32.57%
        Salaries 451,852          110,496          24.45%
        Technical services 88,000            31,590            35.90%
        Utilities 199,400          47,278            23.71%

               Total expenditures 2,597,707       1,002,308       38.58%

INCOME (LOSS) (311,049)         



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VI

July 1, 2023 - October 31, 2023

SPLOST VI
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Interest -                   380                   #DIV/0!
       Other 59,000              -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 59,000              380                   0.64%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Roads and sidewalks -                   #DIV/0!
       Public works equipment - roads 50,000              -                   0.00%
       Sewer projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer -                   -                   0.00%
       Water projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market 9,000                2,250                25.00%
       Parks and recreation -                   -                   0.00%

               Total expenditures 59,000              2,250                3.81%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (1,870)              

      Transfer in From Reserves 1,870                
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   



CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA
SPLOST VII

July 1, 2023 - October 31, 2023

SPLOST VII
Budget Actual Percentage

REVENUES
       Taxes 1,000,000         405,494            40.55%
       Interest 21,000              19,423              92.49%
       Other 1,679,000         -                   0.00%

               Total revenues 2,700,000         424,917            15.74%

EXPENDITURES (Capital Outlays)
       City hall acquisition 250,000            8,500                3.40%
       Roads and sidewalks 1,000,000         64,158              6.42%
       Public works equipment - roads 65,000              -                   0.00%
       Land Acq. / Downtown -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - sewer 780,000            -                   0.00%
       Water projects/Sewer Projects -                   -                   0.00%
       Public works equipment - water -                   -                   0.00%
       Farmers market -                   -                   #DIV/0!
       Parks and recreation 605,000            230,148            0.00%

               Total expenditures 2,700,000         302,806            11.22%

TOTAL REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 122,111            

      Transfer in From Reserves (122,111)          
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                   


	1. 11.06.2023 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting 
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2. 09.18.2023 MINUTES City Council Regular Meeting and Work Session.DRAFT
	7a. 3. 10.02.2023 MINUTES City Council Regular Meeting.DRAFT
	7a. 2. Amended budget - Council 2022-2023.pdf
	BUDGET FY 2022-23


	7a. 4. 10.23.2023 MINUTES City Council Special Called Meeting.DRAFT
	Exhibit A_Resolution R2023-06.pdf
	Resolution R2023-06.pdf
	comp plan reduced 2.pdf

	Exhibit B_Health Plan.pdf
	Renewal


	7b. 1. Executive Summary For HPC APPOINTMENTS
	7c. 1. Executive Summary For PC APPOINTMENT
	7d. 1. Executive Summary For AEMC DONATION
	7d. 2. SIGNED DONATION ACCEPTANCE FORM - DAWSONVILLLE
	9. 1. Executive Summary RESOLUTION - MORATORIUM
	9. 2. Resolution R2023-07_Moratorium Extension
	10. 1. Executive Summary For  FINANCIAL AUDIT PRESENTATION
	11. 1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AGENDA__DAWSONVILLE CHARITY POKER ROOM_PENDER_
	11. 2. 10.25.2023 Request for Use of City Property
	11. 3. Staff Recomendation for Poker Room Parking Lot
	12. 1. ANX-C2100043 and ZA-C2100043 executive summary (002)
	12. 2. 08.21.2023 Meeting ANX-C2100043 and ZA-C2100043
	13. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items INFRASTRUCTURE DED ORD
	13. 2. 08-2023 Amended Infrastructure Dedication Ordinance
	14. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items PARKING ORD 
	14. 2. 09-2023 Revised parking ordinance
	15. 1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AGENDA_FEES WAVIED_DAWSON CO BOE_514 ALLEN STREET
	15. 2. Annexation
	16. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items OPEN ANNEXATION
	17. 1. Executive Summary PARKING
	17. 2. HOA RESPONSES
	18. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items IPADs
	19. 1  Executive Summary For Agenda Items CITY MANAGER
	19. 2. 11062023 CITY MANAGER REPORT for the CCM
	20. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items FINANCE DIRECTOR
	20. 2. Financial Statements-OCT23
	GF Budget
	WS vs Budget
	SPLOST
	SPLOST VII




